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OPINIONS BELOW

't of appeals (Pet B .
| 8. The opinion o]
the district court denying petltloner s motion to id1
miss the indictment (Pet. App. BI-BS) is rep r
' at450F Sup] 95 S |

J URISDICTION o

" The Judgment of the court of appeals Wa
~on November 29, 1978 A petltmnwfor reheamn@




n - anuary 4, 1979. The petition for a writ
tiorari was filed on February 2, 1979, and wag
d on- May 14 1979. The jurisdiction of this
rests on 28 U S.C. 1254(1).

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether petitioner’s purchase of securities
based on material non-public information converted
from the customers of the financial printing firm that
empl yed "him violated Section 10(b) of the Securities
nge Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.

2. Whether petitioner had fair notice that his con-
duct was prohibited by Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-b.

3. Whether the district court’s instructions to the
jury on mens rea were correct.

4. Whether the district court correctly received in
evidence an admission by petitioner that was privi-
leged under state, but not federal, law.

' STATUTES AND RULE INVOLVED

Section 10 (b) of-the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, 15°U.8.C. 78j(b), provides:

" It shall be unlawful for any person, directly

or indirectly, by the use of any means or instru-

mentality of interstate commerce or of the mails,

or of any facﬂlty of any national securities ex-

_. :change-- o

' ¥ - * * * *

(b) To use or employ, in connection with the

- purchase or sale of any security registered on

o national securities exchange or any security ,
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not so 1eg1stered any mampulatlve or. de ptwe |

rules and regulations as the Comm1ssmn may |
prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the pub-
lic interest or for the protection of investors.

Section 32 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
15 U.S.C. 78ff, provides in pertinent part:

(2) Any person who willfully violates any pro-
vision of this chapter, or any rule or regulation
thereunder the violation of which is made un-
lawful or the observance of which is required
under the terms of this chapter * * * shall upon
conviction be fined not more than $10,000, or im-
prisoned not more than five years, or both * * *
but no person shall be subject to imprisonment
under this section for the violation of any rule
or regulation if he proves that he had no knowl-
edge of such rule or regulation.

Rule 10b-5 of the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission, 17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5, provides in pertinent

part:
It shall be unlawful for any person, _dlrectly

(a) To employ any device, scheme, or: artlﬁce
to defraud, [or] |

% * * a: * A

(¢) To engage in'any act, practice, or course
of business which operates or would. opgrgt% Qg«
a fraud or deceit upon any person, in conne ffibn
with the purchase or Sale of any segmmty-_' )
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STATEMENT

1. Following a jury trial in the United States
- Dlstmct Court, for the Southern District of New York
- petitioner was convicted on 17 counts of securitie;,
fgaud, in violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities
Exchange Actof 1934, 15 U.8.C. 78j(b), and SEC Rule
10b-5 promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5.
The district court sentenced petitioner to con-
current terms of one year’s imprisonment on counts
1 through 13 of the indictment, all but one month of
which was suspended. Imposition of sentence was
suspended on the last four counts, and petitioner was
placed on five years’ probation (Pet. App. A6 n.7).

The evidence showed that petitioner worked for
more than 20 years at Pandick Press, a financial
printing firm located in New York City, rising from
the level of linotype operator and copy cutter to be-
come a mark-up man earning over $22,000 per year
(Tr. 182-186). Pandick Press provided financial
printing services for investment bankers, law firms,
and corporations. It frequently prepared prospectuses,
registration statements, offering circulars and other
documents used to disclose material facts to the in-
vesting public as required under the federal securities
laws (Tr. 283). As a mark-up man, petitioner was
virtually the first person in the composing room 1

1 Petitioner’s actions were also the subject. of a civil fn(i
forcement proceeding filed by the SEC. Petitioner consen ee
to a final order that permanently enjoined him frox?q.futérd
violations of Sections 10(b) and 14 (e) of the Securlt{e‘smr;e
change Act and SEC Rule 10b-5. He also ‘agreed to dlspc ee
the profits resulting from his illegal activities. SEC;’?-)
rella, SEC Litigation Release No. 7935 (May 25, 1971)-

Tra
N
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cont,
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handle the documents of Pandick’s customers (Tr.
181-182).

Because of the highly conﬁdenual nature of much, |

of Pandick’s financial printing business (Tr. 28

290, 344-345), the firm had a long-standing rulefi‘?;;a; ;
forbidding employees to disclose or use for personal

advantage any information contained in documents
submitted by customers (Tr. 190). In the summer

of 1975, following the filing of an SEC injunctive
proceeding against another printing firm as a result

of misuse of non-public information contained in
draft tender offer prospectuses, Pandick Press formal-
ly warned its employees that misuse of information
contained in customer documents was both improper
and illegal (Tr. 200-212, 285-287; Gov. Ex. 54).°
Pandick Press posted 8” by 10” notices in large,
bold-face print, stating the following (Tr. 200; Gov.
Ex. 14A):

TO ALL EMPLOYEES:

The information contained in all type set and

_ printing done by Pandick Press, Inc., is the pri-
~ vate and personal property of the customer.

- You are forbidden to use any information

learned from customer’s copy, proofs or printed

Transfer Bmdef] Fedh'ééc L. Rep. (CCH) ﬂ

N.Y.), filed on August 21, 1974 charged thaii everal ‘em'

using material -

companies,

Af *nyone else’s benefit, friend i

g R B
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~receive instructions. Any violation of this ryle

@{_ﬁ\i ~will-result in your being fired immediately and

7 yithout warning. .

~In addition, you are liable to criminal penal-
ties of 5 years in jail and $10,000 fine for each
offense.

If you see or hear anybody violating this, re-
port it immediately to your supervisor or to Mr.
Green or Mr. Fertig. Failure to report viola-

~tions will result in your being fired.

These large warning notices were posted by the
punch clock that petitioner used every day and in the
hallway leading from the elevator to the composing
room where he worked (Tr. 206-210; Gov. Ex. 13).
Pandick also posted additional warning signs on its
bulletin boards, distributed warnings in pay envelopes
sent to all employees, and printed warnings on the
back of the employees’ punch cards (Gov. Exs. 15,
16, 17; Tr. 201-202). To assure further that this
message was conveyed, Pandick distributed warning
cards to all of its employees and requested that
they sign and return them (Tr. 202, 286, 525-529;
Gov. Exs. 18,64)%

In addition to working at Pandick Press, petitioner
was an active stock market trader (Tr. 472). He
communicated with his broker between 10 and 15
times per day (Tr. 473), studied financial literature,
and, when possible, watched the “ticker” at 1}15
broker’s office (Tr. 474). Based on the confidential
informatijon available to him at Pandick Press, P®

* The text of the w@rning cards appears in the Appendix,
wmfra.
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titioner devised a scheme to improve his returns
in the stock market. The scheme involved ascer-

taining the identities of companies subject to forth- -

coming tender offers or acquisitions through use.of
the confidential documents entrusted to him by the
customers of Pandick Press. Because the customers
submitted tender offer draft prospectuses with the
names of the target corporations left blank or in
code, petitioner went to extraordinary lengths to
determine the identities of the target companies.*
He did this by making note of facts contained in
draft prospectuses, such as the market on which
the stock was traded, the number of outstanding
shares, the par value of the stock, and the high and
low bids for the preceding year, and comparing the
information with that contained in stock guide books
he had obtained from his broker (Gov. Exs. 11A,
11B, 11C, 11D). Petitioner admitted to another em-
ployee at Pandick Press that he used this technique
to determine the identities of target corporations and-
that he purchased stock on the basis of the non~pubhch
information he learned (Tr 3563-364).
Between September 1975 and November 1976 pe- .
__ titioner purc};@sed the stock of five target_ compames'*’
whose identities he discovered by deciphering con-
fidential material submitted by customers of Pandick

“In order to preser‘fe stm}:t conﬁdentxahty, ithé offering..

corporatxon would either use a ﬁc_t't'o_us name for 1tse1f and




toId hls.broker that he was buying the stocks to make
a’"'Qumk profit (Tr. 102) He did not disclose to his
‘broker or any seller, however, that he had based his
investment decisions on confidential information ob-
tained covertly from customers of Pandick Press (Tr.
: 74 96, 103, 114, 353-354).

- Within days or-hours after petitioner purchased
" the stock, the offering companies publicly announced
their take-over plans (Gov. Exs. 50, 51, 52, 53, 44,
45, 46, 4TA, 48). The price of the stock of the target
companies rose sharply. Petitioner sold out immedi-
ately thereafter, realizing over $30,000 in profits
(Gov. Exs. 7, 10, 61).°

5 Each count of the indictment charged that petitioner used
the facilities of interstate commerce in furtherance of his
scheme by causing confirmation slips to be sent through the
mails by- his broker. The indictment focused on petitioner’s
purchase of stocks issued by five different companies: Counts
1-2 (USM Corp.) ; Counts 3-10 (Riviana Foods, Inc.) ; Counts
11-12- (Foodtown Stores, Inc.); Count 13 (Booth News .
papers, Inc.); Counts 14-17 (Sprague Electric Co.).

8 All of the companies whose stocks petitioner purchased
were subject to tender offers, except for Riviana Foods, which
wasg involved in a negotiated merger. Petitioner’s purchases
and sales involved as many as 3200 shares on one oceasion,
2300 shares on another occasion, and 1100 shares on another
(Pet. App. A4 n.3).
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Petitioner’s purchases of the target stocks rep-
resented, in some cases, a substantial portion of the
total daily trading in those stocks. For example, hlS
purchase of Riviana Foods, Inc., on February 6 -
1976, amounted. to approxlmately one-half of the
total volume of the company’s stock traded that day
(Tr. 421). Similarly, his purchase of Foodtown
Stores, Inc., on October 11, 1976, amounted to one-
half of the total trading volume (ibid.). None of the;
persons who sold their stock to petitioner knew that
the companies were about to become the targets of

concerning the forthcoming acqulsltlons was materlalw
information that would have affected the investment |
decision of those sellers (ibid.).” Investors who had
sold their stock to petitioner testified that they would
not have done so if they had been told that the issuer
companies were about to become merger partners
or targets of tender offers (Tr. 360, 372, 375, 384).°

7 Petitioner stipulated as follows (Tr. 353):

If called as witnesses to testify at trial, the sellers of .
the shares of common stock listed in the indictment from
whom Chiarella purchased the stock and any intermedi-

~ary brokers would testify that they did not know that
~ the company’s stock they were selling. was about to be the
subject of a tender offer or merger. '

Because acquiring firms typically offer 2 premium to
holders to obtain their shares, the imminence ¢ :
or merger is a material fact, as petitioner st1pulated (zbzd)

It is further stipulated that information concernm
upcoming ternider offers or mergers is material. "

® One of the sellers, an employee of one of the targ
panies (Sprague Electric Co.), testified that he
the price of the 'ompa ’s stock was risin;

3
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ﬁ“‘“ér was the only defense witness. He ad.

anies by ‘using the confidential documents

 submitted by Pandic s customers and had purchased

the securities described in the indictment on that

that he intended to defraud anyone (Tr. 483-484)
and asserted that his actions were no different from
those of tender offerors who purchase limited quanti-
ties of stock on the open market without disclosure
(Tr. 491-492), petitioner acknowledged that he knew
that “it was wrong to use confidential information

for personal gain” (Tr. 497; see also Tr. 495-496,

498, 500-502, 509, 512) and that such use could lead

to discharge (Tr. 479-480, 495). When confronted
on cross examination with the large warning signs
at Pandick Press describing applicable criminal
penalties, petitioner testified that he had never read

announcement of the tender offer and shortly after his sale.
He inquired within his company about the reason for the
price rise, but the vice president of the company replied that

.. he did not know (Tr. 862-363). Another seller, who was a

. ‘professional securit;
" to petitioner shortly :
He testified that, despite

alyst, sold shares of USM Corporation
re announcement of the tender offer.

¢ his professional training, he was
unable to perceive that a tender offer was imminent on the
basis of available public information (Tr. 369-372).

_? Petitioner stipulated that the mails were used in conjunc-
tion with these transactions (March 1978 stipulation, 111,
2). He further stipulated that he “did not tell anyone or
communicate any information he may have had regarding
the subject of a tender offer or merger in connection With
the purchases of stock listed in the indictment” (id. at

T4(a)):
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the signs even though he had pasééﬁff’fhem more than
640 times (Tr. 502-508).*
Petitioner testified that he realized that he had

been fired by Pandick Press “because I was using

ingider’s information” (Tr. 514).* When asked

whether he knew that it was against the law to trade

on the basis of insider information, he said, “I didn’t
know it was a criminal law. * * * It was a violation,
as far as I knew” (Tr. 515). When pressed on that
point, petitioner admitted that he realized that use
of insider information “was against:-the SEC” (Tr
516).2

2. The district court instructed the jury that before
it could veturn a verdict of guilty it must find beyond
a reasonable doubt that petitioner employed a device,
scheme, or artifice to defraud, or engaged in an act,
practice or course of business that operated or
would operate as a fraud or a deceit, as charged in
the indictment; that petitioner did so knowingly and

10 At petitioner’s sentencing hearing, the distriet court

characterized that testimony as “perjury beyond a reason-

able doubt” (Pet. App. A17 n.18).

1 When petitioner was discharged for trading on the basis
of confidential information, he did not protest but simply
said: “I understand” (Tr. 234-235)

12 Petitioner also admitted having read about insider trad- .
ing cases in the newspaper (Tr 518) '

Q. You also knew that it was wrong agalnst SEC riﬂesé' S

to use inside 1nformatmn, is that rlght‘?
A. What I read in the papers, cases that 1 ha.ve
Q. So the answer is yes?
A. Yes.
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that the fraudulent conduct oceurred in
;nection ‘with a purchase or sale of securities; and
4..'-"'that the mails were used in furtherance of the fraud-
;ﬁ;j;;{ulent scheme (Tr. 681-683). The court further in-
@structed the jury that, to sustain a charge of fraudu-
lent tradmg on the basis of material non-publie infor-
matmn the jury would have to find beyond a reason-
~able doubt both that the information was non-public
and that it was not disclosed in connection with the
stock transaction (Tr. 685-686).

The court defined “willful and knowing” conduct
for the jury, stressing that such conduct is voluntary,
intentional and deliberate and not a result of “in
nocent mistakes, negligence or inadvertence” (Tr.
688). The court added that the government must
prove (ibid.) :

a realization on the defendant’s part that he was
doing a wrongful act, * * * and that the know-
ingly wrongful act involved a significant risk of
effecting the violation that occurred.

The court also told the jury that evidence admitted
during trial showing that certain tender offerors
sometimes buy securities on the open market before
filing disclosure statements may be considered in de-
termining whether petitioner acted with the under-
standing that his conduct was wrongful (Tr. 689).
It pointed out in this connection (Tr. 692):

The central issue I suggest to you is what was
~ Mr. Chiarella’s state of mind when he was en-
- gaged in any one of them, using the clues and
- decoding the information, as he testified, know-
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ing that this violated company policy? Did he
have any realization that he was doing a wrong-
ful act or did he not? Did he beheve that be-
properly purchase stock in a target company .
without revealing its intent to make a tender
offer, that he could under the circumstances
figure out the target companies’ names and pur-
chase their stock for his own personal gain with-
out its being a wrongful act on his part?

The jury subsequently returned its verdict of guﬂty
on all 17 counts of the indictment (Pet. App. A6).

3. The court of appeals affirmed the judgment of
conviction, one judge dissenting (Pet. App. A1-A34).

 The court held that petitioner’s secret conversion of

information provided in confidence by the acquiring
companies, and his use of that information to pur-
chase securities, operated as a fraud on the acquiring
companies (id. at A13 & n.14). The court underscored
the importance to acquiring companies of preserving
the secrecy of their acquisition plans and avoiding
trading or leaks that could cause “an anticipatory rise
in the market price of the target company’s stock”
(id. at A3, A12-A13). The court also held that peti-
tioner’s use of confidential information converted
from the acquiring companies operated as a fraud
on the persons who sold him securities (id. at A6- "
A9), i

The court of appeals concluded that, in these cir-

cumstances, petitioner was under a duty elther to
abstam from tradmg or to awazt pubhc dlsclosure‘af-g’-

Whlle the
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m‘m‘t d1d not. h ‘that no one may trade on nop.
:v;pubhc market rmation without incurring a duty
~-to disclose” (id. at Al0), it concluded that such 4
du ”""a,pplled to petitioner, who had “converted to his
rsonal - use confidential information entrusted to
‘him in the course of his employment” (id. at A13).
’The;‘ ourt added that “[i]t is diffcult to imagine
conduct less useful, or more destructive of public con-
"":ﬁdence in the 1ntegr1ty of our securities markets than
Chlarella’ 9 (id. at Alb).

The court of appeals reJected petitioner’s contention
that he'did not receive fair notice that his conduct
violated Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. It noted
that although “the precise fact pattern at issue here”
had not been addressed in prior decisions (Pet. App.

- A15), imposition of liability was a logical and pre-
dictable application of prior authorities, and that
the SEC’s earlier charges of antifraud violations by
other printers engaged in identical practices provided
substantial warning. The court pointed out that peti-
tioner received additional notice of potential criminal
liability by the posters that were placed throughout
the premises of Pandick Press, observing that “[{f]ew
malefactors receive such explicit warning of the con-
sequences of their conduct” (id. at A17).

 The court also ruled that the charge to the jury
concerning petitioner’s state of mind complied with
this Court’s holding in Ernst & Ernst v. Hochf elder,
425 U.S. 185 (1976) (Pet. App. A17-A20). It ob-
served that Hochfelder had established that the scien-
ter requirement of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 pre-
cluded: Imposmon of liability in a private action for

1
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damages on the basis of negligent misstateme
omissions. That holding, the court reasoned, does not' |
bar a criminal conviction where the government proves
9 willful and knowing scheme to defraud, under-
taken with the realization that the behavmr in, - ques-
tion is wrongful. -

Judge Meskill dissented, concludmg that apphcatmn
of the “disclose or abstain” doctrine to persons in
petitioner’s position was a departure from prior law.
In his view, petitioner did not “owe[] a duty of dis-
closure to the sellers of target stock”. (Pet. App.
A29), and any breach of duty owed to the acquiring
companies whose information -petit;ip_her admittedly
converted constituted a mere breach of fiduciary duty,
not fraud (ibid.). Judge Meskill concluded that a
criminal prosecution in the circumstances of the
present case violated principles of due process, since
“fair notice” of potential liability did not emanate
“from the language of the statute i_tsélf, from prior
judicial interpretation, or from established custom
and usage” (id. at A32).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT -
| L
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. 78j(b), proscribes any deceptive device or con-
trivance used in connection with a Securities purchase
or sale if prohibited by the rules of the Securities
and Exchange Commission. SEC Rule 10b-5 RYES
C.F.R. 240.10b-5, broadly prohibits the use in con-
nection with g secumfxf transaction of any de
scheme, or artifice to defraud oF any practzce that




"-"Zoperates or Would opera,te as. a;

| _ @ fraud-on any persop,
"Congress intended -Seetion 10(b) to serve as a “catch-
- all. ”w_

The statute reaches all new “cunning devicey”
""“usqd 1o commit fraud, especially those devices that
“ftﬂﬁll no useful function.” Ernst & Ernst v. Hoch.
felder 425 U.S. 185, 203-206 (1976). As this Court
has frequently noted Congress enacted the anti-
fraud provisions of the federal securities laws ““to
achieve a high standard of business ethics . . . in
every facet of the securities industry.” ” United States
v. Najftalin, No. 78-661 (May 21, 1979), slip op. 6
(emphaSIS in original).

1. Petitioner violated Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
by converting confidential information belonging to
the customers of his printing firm and using that
information for personal enrichment in the stock
market. His secret misappropriation operated as a
fraud on the businesses that entrusted him with that
information. The court of appeals properly character-
ized petitioner’s conduct as “conversion”; in the
words of the distriet court, it was equivalent to “em-
bezzlement” (Pet. App. Al13, B2), .

Misuse of confidential information concerning im-
pending tender offers and acquisitions . can disturh
market ‘prices and prematurely reveal acquisition
plans, contrary to the interests of the acquiring com-
panies. Thus, petitioner’s misappropriation placed his
interests in direct conflict with those of the acquiring
companies to whom he owed a duty of confidence.
As their agent, petitioner had an obligation to dis-
close his actions. Under common law principles, fail-
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ure of an agent to disclose sélf-dealinf’g’*f‘**bxﬁ _conflicts
of interest affecting the subject matter of the agency
is a form of deceit. It also violates Section 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5 where, as in this case, the agent’s fraud
occurs in connection with a securities purchase or
sale. Here, as in Superintendent of Insumnce V.
Bankers Life & Casualty Co., 404 US 6, 10-18
(1971), concealed misappropriation by a fiduciary,
achieved through the vehicle of a securities transac-
tion, constitutes a v1olat10n of the statute and the
rule.
2. Petitioner’s use of converted information for
personal financial gain also operated as a fraud on the
uninformed investors who sold him securities. At com-
mon law, a purchaser was not privileged to take ad-
vantage of a seller by use of material information
inaccessible to the seller if that information was ob-
tained through unlawful methods. The rule of ca-
veat emptor, which was designed to reward astute-
ness and penalize heedlessness, did not apply to
exploitation of uninformed sellers through converted
information that the seller, no matter how d111gent E
could not have lawfully obtained.

Moreover, under the federal securities laws the

“philosophy of full disclosure” long ago superseded

that of “caveat emptor.” See Affiliated Ute Citizens .
v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 151 (1972). Consmt—_a
ent with this statutory philosophy, the deci Qf
the lower courts have uniformly held that persons 1
misappropriate confidential commercial informa
and who use that mformatlon for personal@izf

- ment in the stock market lnfrmge the statute an*ﬁ‘-; e
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ule. See, ¢.9. EC v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co., 401
. F.2d 833 (2d Cir. 1968) (en banc), cert. denled 394
- US. (1969). |
~The fact that petitioner’s fraud involved the mis-
,a,ppmprzatmn of important information directly re-
Jated to the market price of the securities that he
" purchased, rather than information about the earning
power of the companies that issued those securities,
underscores, rather than minimizes, the illegality of
his actions. Foreknowledge of an acquisition or tender
offer—events entailing a sudden and substantial in-
crease in market values—is certain knowledge that
the stock of the target company is worth significantly
more than its owners believe. Obtaining that informa-
tion by contrivance in order to exploit uninformed
investors 1s an act of dishonesty and deception that
the securities laws properly should and do condemn.
This Court’s decision in Affiliated Ute Citizens v.
United States, supra, establishes that the failure
of purchasers to disclose to sellers important facts re-
lating to the market price of securities can violate
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. The defendants in
Ute bought securities based on information concern-
ing their market price that the defendants obtained
by virtue of their privileged position in the market
place. Financial printers also occupy such a priv-
ileged position. Petitioner was entrusted with highly
material and confidential information that would
cause substantial unfairness and unjust preferences
if selectively revealed or misused. It was his job to
help prepare disclosure documents for dissemination
to all investors on an equal basis. He perverted that
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function by using the information to enrich hlmself?
His conduct is wholly at odds with “[t]he high stand-
ards of business morality” exacted by the federal
securities laws. SEC v. Capital Gains Reseafrch
Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. 180, 201 (1963).

Petitioner’s conduct bears no resemblance to that of
tender offerors or other business firms that purchase
securities (within statutory and regulatory limits)
while in possession of infermation about market con-
ditions generated by their own bona fide commereial
activity. The securities laws have never been inter-
preted in such a manner as to preclude legitimate
economic activity., Petitioner’s conversion and misuse
of material confidential information, by contrast,
was harmful to the bona fide business activity of ac-
quiring companies and to the investing public. His
activities present a clear example of deceptive conduct
that can “fulfill no useful function.” Ernst & Ernst
v. Hochfelder, supra, 425 U.S. at 204-205, 206.

II.

Petitioner received fair notice that his conduct
could result in the imposition of criminal sanctions.
The literal language of Sectlon 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
placed him on notice that all deceptive devices and con-
trivances practiced in connection with a securities
transaction violate the law. Prior to his actions, the
lower courts repeatedly had denounced insider tradlng
(SEC v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co., supm) and this
Court had held that frauds mvolvmg the mlsu.se of '-
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market information relating to‘the value of securities
“were forbidden (Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United
States, supm) Lower court decisions had also estab-
lished that use of information concerning impending
~ corporate ‘acquisitions to purchase target company
stock violated the statute and the rule (SEC w.
Shapiro, 494 F.2d 1301, 1303-1307 (2d Cir. 1974)).
Similarly, the SEC had commenced well-publicized en-
forcement proceedings against printers who had mis-
used confidential data concerning forthcoming tender
offers (SEC v. Sorg Printing Co., [1974-1975 Trans-
fer Binder] Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) 194,767
(S.D. N.Y. 1974)). Moreover, prior to petitioner’s
actions, the Department of Justice had instituted
criminal prosecutions in many cases where willful
violations of Section IO(b) and Rule 10b-5 were
found to exist.

As the court of appeals pointed out, this case pre-
sents no abstract question concerning the sufficiency
of notice provided by statute books and judicial opin-
ions. Petitioner received explicit warning from large
posters placed throughout his printing firm that use
of “confidential information for securities trading
would subject him to fines and imprisonment. Few
malefactors ever receive such specific and personal
warning about the consequences of their actions.

Furthermore, the district court instructed the jury
~ that it could not find petitioner guilty unless the gov-
ernment proved beyond a reasonable doubt that he

acted willfully and knowingly with the understanding
* that his conduct was wrongful. Thus, there is no queés
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tion here of convicting a defendant who believed that
his actions were proper. This Court repeatedly has
held that, where a defendant acts with mens rea, con-
stitutional standards of fair notice are satisfied even
if the prohibitory language of the statute is general or,
indeed, even if the precise boundaries of the statute
are subject to debate. Where a defendant consciously
acts in a manner that he knows to be wrongful, and
where his conduct is fairly encompassed by the literal
terms of the criminal statute, the Due Process Clause
does not stand in the way of his conviction. See, e.g.,
Nash v. United States, 229 U.8. 373, 877 (1913); cf.
United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 438 U.S.
422, 438-441 (1978) (defendants may be convicted
of “rule of reason” violations under the antitrust
laws where mens rea is proven).

III.

The district court’s charge to the jury emphasized
that it could not find petitioner guilty unless it con-
cluded that he acted willfully and knowingly, with
consciousness that his conduct was wrongful. The
court specifically instructed the jury that it could not
convict petitioner if his actions were merely negligent.
That instruction comports in all respects with Ernst
& Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185 (1976). Hoch-
felder held that Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 require
proof of scienter as opposed to simple negligeneé
The scienter standard is satlsﬁed by proof of knowing
and willful mlsconduct ‘At common law, knowing and
willful conduct was equivalent to ] ter The Iower




e held that such proof satisfies
“ er standard adopted in Hochfelder.

- 'The district court properly rejected petitioner's
'-i'ijproposed mstructlon that the Jury must find an “evil
"*j‘*’jamb1t1on to” mJure someone.”  That instruction not
* only misstates the law but also has no logical appli-
cation in a case of this kind. Persons trading on the
~ basis of material non-public information on imper-
sonal securities exchanges are unaware of the identi-
ties of other traders. They rarely entertain an evil
ambition to injure a-vietim, Their only intent is to
make a profit and avoid detection. If criminal or civil
sanctions are to be available in cases involving trad-
ing on material non-public information, the statute
and the rule cannot be construed to require an evil
ambition to injure some victim. Proof of knowing
and willful misconduect, undertaken with a realization
of its wrongfulness, is a sufficient showing of mens
req, in a criminal prosecution of this kind. United
States v. United States Gypsum Co., supra, 438 U.S.
at 443-446, -

AL

The district court’s receipt of an admission made
by petitioner to the New York Department of Labor
did not constitute reversible error. Under New York
law, the Department of Labor may disclose state-
ments given in connection with unemployment insur-
ance benefits in a number of different situations, and
the Department discloses such statements to the FBL
- Indeed, the New York Commissioner of Labor ap-
- Proved use of petltloner s admission in the present
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prosecution. Thus, receipt of this evidence did not
infringe any state policy. - o

The federal policy in favor of adm1ss1b1hty is ex-
pressed in Fed. R. Evid. 402 and 501, which authorize
the receipt of all relevant evidence in criminal trials
unless barred by the Constitution, a federal statute,
or the federal common law. No principle of federal
constitutional, statutory, or common law requires ex-
clusion here. In the circumstances of this case the
district court properly declined to erect a new federal
privilege. See United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S. 683,
708-713 (1974). Moreover, receipt of petitioner’s
admission, even if erroneous, was clearly harmless.
The government proved the substance of the admis-
sion through independent and uncontradicted evi-
dence. Receipt of this cumulative evidence could not
have affected the outcome of the trial.

ARGUMENT

I. PETITIONER’S SECRET CONVERSION OF MA-
TERIAL CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION FROM

" THE CORPORATIONS THAT RETAINED HIS
PRINTING FIRM, AND HIS USE OF THAT INFOR-
MATION TO PURCHASE SECURITIES FROM UN-
INFORMED INVESTORS, VIOLATED SECTION
10(b) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934 AND SEC RULE 10b5

Petitioner admits that he convertéd confidential in-

formation from the corporations that entrusted his -
- printing firm with their documents (Br 6-7) ‘and-

that he used that information to purchase tock from
u‘nsuspectmg investors (zbzd ) He has stlpulated th .




| tance and that he made no dlsclosure to anyone be-
fore purchasmg the securities (and then quickly re-
selling them at a large profit to himself) (see pages
9-10, supra). Petitioner contends, however, that his
-~ conduct cannot be deemed to be fraudulent under Sec-
tion 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
15 U.S.C. 78j(b), or Rule 10b-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R.
240.10b-5, because he was not “an ‘insider,” the ‘tip-
pee’ of an ‘insider’, or one with a special relationship
with other traders and investors” (Br. 13).

The court of appeals correctly rejected petitioner’s
contention, in recognition of the well established prin-
cipal that Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 apply to
“any” fraudulent scheme (Affiliated Ute Citizens v.
United Stoates, 406 U.S. 128, 151 (1972)) and are
not limited to frauds involving “inside” corporate
information or trading between persons having an
arbitrarily defined “special relationship.” As this
Court recently noted in United States v. Naftalin, No.
78-561 (May 21, 1979), slip op. 6, the antifraud pro-
visions of the federal securities laws were intended
“‘to achieve a high standard of business ethics . . .
in every facet of the securities industry’ " (emphasis
in original). As we demonstrate below, petitioner
committed fraud against both the acquiring corpora-
tions whose information he converted and the 1n-
vestors who sold him securities in ignorance of forth-
coming market events of critical importance. Since
petitioner’s fraud occurred “in connection with” his
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purchase of securities, it. constltuted a v1olat10n Gf t
statute and the rule.” o

A. Section 10(b) And Rule 10b-5 Apply To Any De-
ceptive Practice Used In Connection With A Pur—

chase Or Sale Of Securities, Not Just The Specxes o
Of Fraud Involving Insider Information Or A"~

Special Relationship Between Buyer And Seller

In considering petitioner’s assertions regarding the
Jimited scope of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, the
primary guide must be the la,nguage of the statute'
and the rule. See Touche Ross & Co. .v. Rédmgtoa@
No. 78-309 (June 18, 1979), slip op..7 (“as with any
case involving the interpretation of a statute, our
analysis must begin with the language of the statute
itself”) ; Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S.
462, 472 (1977); Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425
U.S. 185, 197 (1976). The literal language of the
statute and its implementing rule prohibits all frauds,
not just certain categories of fraud. Section 10(b)
provides that it is unlawful for “any person,” ‘‘di-
reetly or indirectly,” to “use or employ, in connection
with the purchase or sale of any securlty Row o any
manipulative or deceptive device or centrwance in

contravention of such rules and regulatmns as the .

Commission may prescribe as necessary or appro-
briate in the public interest or for the prétection;;g:fﬁQQ'f;‘_

13 Th1s is a criminal prosecution' brought by the Un;' d
States to enforce the federal ‘securities laws. It doe
Present the complications often involved in-] pm '

including questions’ of standmg to sue, and the
redress, See |




Pursuant to this broad mandate, Rule
eé : ibits the ‘use of any device scheme or

ness whlch operates or Would operate as a fraud or
's""'decelf‘, upon any person in connectmn with a securi-

broader terms There is no hmltatlon on the category
of. person_s th}_m_ay violate the statute or rule., Nor
is there a limitation on the category of fraud or on
the identity of the victim. The antifraud provisions
apply to “any person” and extend to “any’ fraudu-
lent device or contrivance, whether practiced directly
or indirectly. See Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United
States, supra, 406 U.S. at 151 (footnote omitted):

These proscriptions, by statute and rule, are
broad and, by repeated use of the word “any,”
are obviously meant to be inclusive. The Court
has said that the 1934 Act and its companion
legislative enactments embrace a “fundamental

. burpose . . . to substitute a philosophy of full

- “disclosure for the philosophy of caveat emptor
and thus to achieve a high standard of business
ethics in the ‘securities’ 1ndustry.”

Accord, Superintendent of Insurance v. Bankers Life
& Casualty Co., 404 U.S. 6, 9-13 & n.7 (1971) (quot-
ing 4. T. Brod & Co. v. Perlow, 375 F.2d 393, 397
(2d Cir. 1967)); United States v. Najftalin, supra,
slip op. 3 3. Thus, the literal text of the statute and
the rule provide no support for the argument that
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they should be limited to frauds practiced by “in-
siders” or “tippees,” or to frauds involving a _“sp_ecial
relationship” between buyer and seller.

Where a defendant’s scheme to defraud 1nv01ves
“deception,” “manipulation” or “non-disclosure,” as
opposed to simple breach of fiduciary duty (Santa Fe
Industries, Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 476 (1977)),
is accompanied by “scienter” rather than negligence
(Ernst & Evnst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 214
(1976) ), and involves the purchase or sale of securi-
tles and the facilities of interstate commerce, the
broad prohibitions of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
apply at face value. As this Court emphasized in
Hochfelder, Section 10(b) was concelved as a “catch-
all” to “deal with new manipulative or cunning de-
vices.” 425 U.S. at 203. Quoting from the remarks
of Thomas Corcoran, a spokesman for the drafters of
the legislation, the Court concisely summarized the
statute’s prohibition: “ ‘Thou shalt not devise any
other cunning devices.”” Id. at 202. See also S. Rep.
No. 792, 73d Cong., 2d Sess. 18 (1934) (Section
10(b) supplements narrower antifraud prohibitions.
by extending to “any other manipulative or deceptive
practices”). Congress intended the antifraud. pro-
hibition to fall with special force on ‘mampulatlve
and deceptive practices which . . . fulfill no useful-
function’ ” and on ¢ ‘illicit practices,’ where the de-
fendant has not acted in good faith.” Ernst & Ernst
v. Hochfelder, supra, 425 U.S. at 206. As Professor
Loss has summarized, Section 10(b) was intended to
nnibus provision” to cui'tail all fraudu-
d in connection with securities trans—»
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. VI L. Loss, Secumtws Regulation 35928
9 ed.). Accord, 1 A. Bromberg, Securities Lay

- Frdud: SEC Rule 10b- 5,8 2.2(332) (1977). In light

of: the broad “catchall” purposes of Section 10(b)

~..and Rule 10b-5, there is no basis for petitioner’s

':Largument that the unusual nature of the fraud that
he practiced provides immunity from liability.

B. Petitioner Defrauded The Corporations That En-
‘trusted Him With Confidential Information When
He Secretly Converted That Information And Used
It For Personal Profit In The Stock Market

Petitloner s secret conversion of confidential infor-
mation operated as a fraud on the corporations that
entrusted him with that information. Because he
practlced his scheme to defraud through securities
purchases and sales, he violated Section 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5.

The indictment in this case charged that petition-
er’s actions operated as a fraud on the sellers of the
securities. It also charged that his conduct amounted
to a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, without
limitation on the category of victims (Indictment,
f11). Accordingly, in its pretrial order denying peti-
tioner’s motion to dismiss the indictment, the district
‘court explained that, if proven, the scheme charged
in the indictment would operate as a fraud on the
corporations whose information petitioner converted

(Pet. App. B2-B3):

o Crediting the indictment, there is no question

that Chiarella wrongfully took corporate infor-
mation—unquestionably material and non- -public



... Practiced on “any person” 1n connectmn w1th a purchase“'

- Section 17 (a) of:
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—entrusted to him by offering corporatlons and
used it solely for personal profit, which informa-
tion was “intended to be available only for a
corporate purpose and not for the benefit of any-
one.”” * * * The analogy of embezzlement by a
bank employee immediately springs to mind,
and, of course, embezzlement implies fraudulent
conduct. E.g., Grin v. Shine, 187 U.S. 181, 189-
90 * * * (1902). Chiarella can, therefore, hard-
ly claim that the acts alleged did not operate as
a fraud. * * * Chiarella’s purchases further
operated as a fraud upon the acquiring corpora-
tions whose plans and information he took while

- he was setting them in type, because his pur-
chases might possibly have raised the price of
the target companies’ stock, increasing the cost
of legitimate market purchases by such acquir-
ing corporations, and thus constituted *“a mani-

pulative or deceptive device or contrivance” with-
in the prohibition of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

In light of the uncontradicted evidence of undisclosed
misappropriation of confidential information pre-
sented at trial, the prosecutor argued to the jury that
petitioner’s conduct constituted a fraud against the
‘acquiring companies (Tr. 605).*

The court of appeals agreed with the district court
that petitioner’s conduct operated as a fraud on the
tender offerors as well as the sellers of securities
(Pet. App. A13 n.14):

1 The district court’s charge to the jury emphasized that
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.could be violated by a frau

sale of secunt:.es :



-en__l_al information to his own use. It not only
ged that appellant’s activities “operated as 3
fraud and deceit upon the sellers of the afore.
mentioned securities,” it also charged a “scheme
_ to defraud” in general terms. Clearly, violation
- ‘of an agent’s duty to respect client confidences,
Restatement (2d) Agency § 3895, transgresses
‘Rule 10b-5, where, as here, the converted infor-
mation both concerned securities and was used

to purchase and sell securities.

The court also emphasized that p.etitioner’s secret
conversion and use of confidential information for
market purchases threatened the offerors’ interest in
preventing an “anticipatory rise in the market price of
the target company’s stock” (id. at A3). As we
demonstrate below, the district court and court of
appeals correctly ruled that petitioner’s conduct oper-
ated as a fraud on the acquiring corporations in vio-
lation of Section 10 (b) and Rule 10b-5.

1. Pre-announcement secrecy is essential to the
success of tender offers

As both of the courts below recognized, pre:
*announcement secrecy is essential to the success of a

‘be victimized by a fraudulent scheme and reaches fraudulent
practices aimed at businesses as well as individual investors.
See United States v. Naftalin, supra, slip op. 6. Thus, the
district court’s charge permitted the jury to find that peti-
tioner’s conduct constituted a fraud upon both the acquiring
_companles and the investors who sold securities to petitionel"
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tender offer or acquisition.® The éorpc)i'ations in-
volved here used coded references in their draft' |
prospectuses, or left the names of the target com-

panies blank, to preserve strict confidentiality. Pan- -
dick Press recognized the importance of conﬁdentzal-__'

ity by admonishing its employees that information =~
contained in customer documents “is the private and
personal property of the customer” and by prohibit-
ing any disclosure or use of the mfermatlon for pri-
vate purposes (see pages b-7, supm) e

Members of the securities industry famﬂlar Wlth
the mechanics. of tender offers have frequently em-
phasized the need for pre-announcement secrecy. For
example, during hearings before Congress prior to the
enactment of the Williams Act, Pub. L. No. -90-439,
82 Stat. 454, witnesses pointed out that premature
revelation of the acquiring company’s plans can abort
a tender offer. See, e.g., testimony of Donald Calvin,
Vice President of the New York Stock Exchange
(Full Disclosure of Corporate Eqmty Ownership and
in Corporate Takeover Bids: Hearings on S. 510 Be-
fore the Subcomm. on Securities of the Senate Comm.
on Banking and Currency, 90th Cong., 1st Sess. 72
(1967)) :

Obviously, a company int_e_n‘d_iﬁg to make a
tender offer strives to keep its plan secret If

15 A tender offer con51sts of a bid by an 1nd1v1dual or a.“ff;’f‘"fl?-?ﬂ*4 ‘

group to buy shares of a corporatmn, usually at a‘price

the current market prlce This- premium has the __ﬁ’ect of_ﬂ

raising the market price of the target company s stock once:{:
the tender offer becomes pubhcly known
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rd of the impending offer becomes public, the
ce of the stock will rise toward.the expecteq
~tender price. Thus, the primary inducement to
stockholders—an ‘offer to purchase their shayes
~ at an attractive price above the market—is lost,
~_and the offeror may be forced to abandon its
plans ‘or to raise the offer to a still higher price,
" "The cost of an offer to purchase hundreds of
" thousands of shares might prove prohibitive if
the price-had to. be increased only a few dollars
per share. * * * In spite of all precautions, there
~have been cases where tender offers have been
-~ preceded by leaks and rumors which caused ab-
normal market problems. N
See also 7d. at 73-75. Other witnesses also mentioned
the necessity to avoid rumors and leaks of informa-
tion about imminent tender offers. See id. at 84, 87-
89 (remarks of Philip West, Vice President, and
Keith Funston, President of the New York Stock Ex-
change); 98, 105 (remarks of Ralph Saul, President
of the American Stock Exchange) ; 151, 163 (remarks
of Francis Schanck, Vice President of the Investment
Bankers Association). See also Hayes, & Taussig
Tactics of Cash Takeover Bids, 45 Harv. Bus. Rev.
135, 139-140 (1967). o
In addition to the potential effect on price, leaks
and unusual trading patterns may alert the target
company to the tender offeror’s plans. See A. Fleiszh-
er, dee?" Offers: Defenses, Responses, and lem.z??fﬂ
4-6(1978). A target company alerted to a possible
tender offer by unusual trading volume or rumols call
commence communications with its ShareholderS. to
deflect the offer, can prepare for litigation against

— e e e s Tt e e R e T
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the offeror, and can attempt to find competing friend-
ly bidders to defeat the offeror. See id. at 118-158.
Qee also Hayes & Taussig, supra, 45 Harv. Bus. Rev. at
149-147; Panel Discussion: Defending Target Com-
panies, 32 Bus. Law. 1349-1363 (special issue 1977).
Of equaily great importance, rumors, leaks and un-
usual trading patterns may alert the investment bank-
ing community and other potential tender offerors to
the prospect of an attractive acquisition. This may
trigger competing bids that result in expensive battles
for control, if not total loss of the target company.
See, ¢.g., Troubh, Purchased Affection: A Primer On
Cash Tender Offers, 54 Harv. Bus. Rev. 79, 83
(chart) (1976).

This “high drama of Wall Street,” as the court of
appeals observed, also has its “tedious aspects,” par-
ticularly the vast amount of paper that must be gen-
erated before a tender offer is made (Pet. App.
A2-A3). Therefore, to avoid unfavorable price be-
havior, defensive maneuvers by the target company,
and competing bids, the tender offeror must select
“[p]rinters * * * who are eflicient as well as discreet
¥ * R Troubh, supra, 54 Harv. Bus. Rev. at 86.
Far from being discreet, however, petitioner engaged
in the very kind of behavior that was likely to frus-.
trate the acquisition plans of Pandick’s customers.
As noted on pages 9-10, supra, petitioner’s substan#"*
tial trading in the stock of target companies repre-
Sented one—half of the total Volume of daﬂy tradmg,_____:*_ .




o ntmumg commumcatmn Wwith
his. broker and__ﬁ__repeated purchases of large amounts
. of target-company stock immediately prior to the
. -announcement of the tender offers was the very kind
of behavior that could serve as a tip to his broker
and givé rise to rumors of an offer.’® This activity
could easily have forewarned the target companies of
the plans of the acquiring companies, to whom peti-
tioner owed a duty of confidence.

~ Insum, pet'tloner s secret conversion of confidential
ifii??:tnforma‘tlon d his use of that information for trad-
ing-in the stock market placed him in a serious con-
flict of interest and posed a substantial threat to the
interests of the customers of his printing firm.

18 Petitioner’s broker was well aware that petitioner was
employed in a financial printing firm (Tr. 70-74). The broker
was also aware of petitioner’s repeated success in picking
tender offer targets immediately before the public announce-
ment of the tender offers (Tr. 101-114). See generally In re
George Mayer, Securities Exchange Act Release No. 84591

(1978) (customer trading alerts broker to non-public market
information).

17 See Fleischer, supra, at 4-5, pointing out that tender offer
targets can protect themselves against take-over bids by
“stock watch” programs focused on unusual trading activities
and by alertness to information about possible tender offers
available ftrom brokerage houses. See also Reuben & Elden,
How To Be A Target Company, 23 N.Y.L. Sch. L. Rev. 423,
429 (1978). Petitioner’s use of confidential tender offer
information was discovered by the New York Stock Ex-
change's stock watch personnel, who observed unusual trad-
ing patterns in the shares of one of the target companies. See

ig’g )V Chiarella, SEC Litigation Release No. 7935 (May 25,
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2. As an agent, petitioner was forbidden to engage |
in self-dealing affecting the subject matter of
his agency without making full disclosure

As a mark-up man at Pandick Press who received
customer copy and who was aware of the need for
confidentiality applicable to that copy, petitioner was
subject to the rules of agency governing the preserva-
tion of confidences."”® The rules of agency forbid an
agent to place himself in a position of potential con-
flict with his principal, to earn secret profits through
the agency, or to disclose or use for personal advan-
tage any of the principal’s confidential ‘information.
See II Restatement of Agency § 395 & Comments a
and ¢, § 393 & Comment a, § 390 & Comment a, § 388,
§ 383 (1933). See also 1 F. Mechem, Law of Agency
§§ 1189, 1191, 1209, 1224 (2d ed. 1914).

An agent contemplating a transaction that could
infringe these rules has an unqualified duty to make
prior disclosure to permit his principal to take steps to
protect himself. See II Restatement of Agency, supra,
at § 395 & Comment ¢, § 381 & Comment d, § 390 &
Comment a, $393 & Comment a. Accord, Mechem,

18 Because it assumed ’ﬁduclary duty to use confidential
information entrusted to it-only for the purposes designated
by its customers and acted under the control and .for the
benefit of those customers, Pandick Press occupied the posi-
tion of an agent. See I Restatement (Second) of Agency
§ 14N (1958). Petitioner, an employee of Pandick Press with
knowledge of the rule against using confidential information
for personal benefit, was a sub-agent subject to identical
fiduciary respon31b111t1es See Pet. App. Al13 n.14; id. at A29
(Meskill, J., dissenting) : II Restatement of Agency § 428 &> :
Comment b; W. Seavey, Ageney 10 (1964). See also Scott,
The F’zdumwy Principle, 37 Calif. L. Rev. 539, 540-541, 55&%55&
554 (1949); III J. Pomeroy, Equity Jurisprudence 793-796
(5th ed. 1941) ; 86A C.J.S. 882-389 (1961) (collecting cases)
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supra, at §§ 1207, 1353. Nondisclosure by an agent
or other fiduciary in such circumstances constitutes
deceit. See, e.g., III Restatement of Torts § 551(2)
(a) & Comment e (1938); see also James & Gray,
Misrepresentation—Part II, 37 Md. L. Rev. 488, 524-
525 (1978); Kerr on Fraud and Mistake 185-186,
210-2138 (7th ed. 1952) ; G. Bower, The Law Relating
to Actionable Non-Disclosure 294-306 (1915)."® Peti-
tioner’s contrivance to convert confidential informa-
tion operated as a fraud on the companies that en-
trusted him with that information within these well-
established principles.

3. Petitioner’s fraud occurred “in connection with”’
the purchase of securities and therefore violated
the statute and the rule

Because petitioner’s scheme to defraud operated
through his purchase of securities and also had a close

19 This Court has frequently held that an agent’s failure
to disclose self-dealing or conflicts of interest constitutes
fraud. See, e.g., Sim V. Edenborn, 242 U.S. 131 (1916);
Strong V. Repide, 213 U.S. 419, 428-433 (1909) ; United States
v. Carter, 217 U.S. 286, 305-310 (1910) ; Wardell v. Railroad
Company, 108 U.S. 651, 654-659 (1880). The common law
rule in the state courts is the same. See, e.g., Holland V.
Moreton, 10 Utah 2d 390, 396, 353 P.2d 989, 994 (1960);
Myers v. Linebarger, 134 Ark. 231, 234, 203 S.W. 580, 58l
(1918) ; Allen V. Barhoff, 90 Conn. 184, 187, 96 A. 928, 930
(1916) ; Ericson V. Nebraska-Iowa Farm Inv. Co., 134 Neb.
391, 399, 278 N.W. 841, 845 (1938); Doyen V. Bauer, 211
Minn. 140, 145-148, 300 N.W. 451, 454-456 (1941). Moreover
as the district court noted (Pet. App. B2-B3), petitioners
secret conversion of the intangible property of the custorrfel’s
of Pandick Press bears the indicia of embezzlement, a erime
that is inherently fraudulent. See, ¢.g., Grin V. Shine, 187 US>

181, 189 (1902) ; W. LaFave & A. Scott, Criminal Law 644
645 (1972).

[

by o M < m Rt O e e b D et

dec
tie
Co

(1€

<

o

lat;

21



37

relationship with (and potent1al]y injuriou
upon) the securities purchases of the acquiring com-
panies, his fraud occurred “in connection with”
securities transactions. It therefore v1olated Section
10(b) and Rule 10b- 5.2 As noted above, Section
10(b) and Rule 10b-56 apply to “any” _d_eceptlv_e de-
vice or contrivance used in connection with a pur-
chase or sale of securities. When a defendant em-
ploys deceptive practices “touching” the purchase or
sale of securities, Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 are
violated, regardless of the means used to achieve the
fraud. Superintendent of Insurance v. Bankers Life
& Casualty Co., 404 U.5. 6, 12-13 (1971). As the
Bankers Life case illustrates, concealed embezzlement
or conversion, achieved through the vehicle of a securi-
ties transaction, constitutes a variety of fraud pro-
hibited by Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. See id. at
10-11 & n.7 (“misappropriation is a ‘garden variety’
type of fraud”); see also Allico National Corp. v.
Amalgamated Meal Cutters & Butcher Workmen of
North America, 397 F.2d 727, 728-730 (7th Cir.
1968); A. Jacobs, The Impact of Rule 10b-5 §67 02
(1978); cf. A. T. Brod & Co. v. Perlow, 375 F2d 393
397 (2d Cir. 1967) .2

20 As noted above, petitioner’s scheme would have been
deemed fraudulent under common law principles. The securi- -
ties laws impose even greater standards of candor, as this
Court has often recognized. See, e.g., SEC v. Capital Gains
Research Bureau, Ine., 375 U.S. 180, 194-195, 197-198, 201 .
(1963) ; Affiliated Ute Citizens V. United States, supm,
U.S. 128, 151 (1972). See also III L Loss, Seczm
la,twn 1430-1436 (2d ed. 1961)




i.not"kmerely a breach of ﬁducxary duty. Petitioner’s
f"“conauct“*“amounted to a breach of duty to be sure, but
it also involved “some element of deception” (Santa
Fe Industries; Inc. v. Green, supra, 430 U.S. at 475)
—a material failure to disclose. And as this Court
'has noted, concealment, nondisclosure or deception
in conjunction with a breach of fiduciary duty
gives rise to a violation of Section 10(b) and Rule
10b-5. Seeid. at 474-476 & n.15. Finally, as the Court
reaffirmed-in United States v. Naftalin, supra, slip
op. 6, the fact that this part of petitioner’s fraudulent
scheme was directed toward a business, rather than
an investor, provides no immunity from prosecution,
because the securities laws were intended to protect
“honest business” as well as investors and thus to
achieve “ ‘a high standard of business ethics . . . in
every facet of the securities industry’ ” (emphasis in
original).

-G, Pet;.t:oner Defrauded Public Investors By i’urchas

' Non»Pubhc Information That He Converted From

The Customers Of His Financial Printing Firm
Both courts below concluded that petitioner’s pur-
chage of securities based on material non-public in-
: _fo_rmatiOn ob_tained by misappropriation constituted

purchase stock options from the corporation without reveal-
ing. matf::rlal facts, violates the statute and the rule); id. ab
865 endly, T, concumng)
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fraud on the sellers of those securltles in violation of
Qection 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 (Pet. App. A2-Al5,
B3). Petitioner contends, however, that he did not
commit fraud because he was subject to no duty to
disclose or abstain from trading. He asserts that the
duty to abstain from trading prior to public disclosure
applies only to “insiders” of the corporations that
have issued securities, “tippees” of such insiders, or
persons having a “special trustee type of relation-
ship” with other traders in the market (Br. 17, 19,
20, 22). Petitioner claims, in substance, the pmvﬂege
of the ancient rule of caveat emptor. As we demon-
strate below, petitioner’s claim ignores established
principles of the law of deceit, recognized both at
common law and under the federal securities laws.

1. The rule of caveat emptor has never applied to
transactions based on converted informalion
that is inaccessible to other traders

At common law, purchasers and sellers of goods
were generally privileged fo fransact business with
each other without disclosing their reasons for trad-
ing. See 2 T. Cooley, Law of Torts § 351, at 556 (4th
ed. 1932) : “Caveat emptor is the motto of commercial
law, and in other dealings, as well as sales, every
person is expected to look after his own interest, and
is not at liberty to rely upon the other party to protect
him against the consequences of his own blunders or
heedlessness.” 2 The rule of caveat emptor rewarded
the astuteness of the informed trader and penalized

22 See also II J. Kent C’ommentames on Amemc' Law
618-623 (7th ed. 1851); 12 Wzllzston on*’fGontmcts §§ 1497-
1499 (34 ed. 1970) . _
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W , |
heedlessness of the uninformed. Thus, “where
.. the’means of intelligence are equally accessible to both
© partles,” a buyer was free at common law to pur-
‘chase goods while in possession of material informa-
“tion bearing on the market for those goods, even if
~’that infqm;atiqg;jvas unknown to the seller. Laidlaw
v. Organ, 15 U.S. (2 Wheat.) 177, 195 (1817). Any
other:rule would penalize the “superior diligence and
alertness” of the buyer, conduct that society should
encourage rather than deter. See id. at 193.

But the purpose served by the rule of caveat emptor
placed distinct limits on its scope. Thus, where (un-
like in Laidlaw) the “means of intelligence” were not
“equally accessible” to both traders, the common law
decisions in certain commercial contexts imposed a
duty of full disclosure. See, e.g., 1 ¥, Harper & F.
James, The Law of Torts § 7.14 at 588 (1956), deserib-
ing the “salutary rule” requiring disclosure of facts
“peculiarly and exclusively within the knowledge of
one party to the transaction.” ® A duty of full dis-
closure applied at common law to those categories of
commercial transactions in which one party had access
to material information that was hidden from the

other and good faith required candid dealing, as in

2 See also, Carter V. Boehm, 3 Burr. 1905, 1910 (1766)
(Mansfield, J.) ; Hanson v. Edgerly, 29 N. H. 343, 358-359
(1856) ; Rothmiller v. Stein, 148 N.Y. 581, 595, 38 N.E. 718,
722 (1894) ; Jones v. Arnold, 359 Mo. 161, 169, 221 S.W.2d
187, 198 (1940) ; Simmons v. Evans, 185 Tenn. 282, 285-287,
206 S.W.2d 295, 296-297 (1947) ; Jenkins v. McCormack, 184
Kan. 842, 844, 339 P.2d 8, 11 (1959) ; Lingsch v. Savage, 213
Cal.App.2d 729, 735-738, 29 Cal. Rptr. 201, 204-206, (1963)
CE. Stewart v. Wyoming Ranche Co., 128 U.S. 883, 388 (1888).
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lele ' gertain insurance contracts, coxi’ﬁi‘iécts 0 surety-
oth | chip contracts, and compositions. See G, Wer, The
e b Law Relating To Actionable N O%DZSCZOS?M‘G supra,
ng- g 58-110; Kerr on Fraud and Mistake, supra, at 87.

i A duty to disclose information inaccessible to' the
aw | seller received unequivocal recognition when the buy-
nyo I g misappropriated or otherwise improperly came into
nd possession of the information that formed the basis
0d . ! for the transaction. See, e.g., G. Bower & A. Turner,

, The Law of Actionable Misrepresentation 107
or. k (1974) : “In other words, suppression by a purchaser

n- - of facts affecting the value of the property which
of are not merely within his own knowledge, but the
wi issue of his own volition and wrongful action, is
a equivalent to a misrepresentation.” This principle is
A illustrated by the English case of Phillips v. Homfray,
>+ LR. 6 Ch. 770, 779-780 (1871), where the buyers
S converted coal from the sellers’ property prior to pur-
f i chasing the property: “the case is not merely that the
e purchasers, being more experienced men, knew the

f ?”%‘ value of the coal better than the vendors, but that the
3 vendors being unable to gain access to the coal, the
pur chasers took: advantage of an unlawful access

ply. Ibid. See also Keeton F
Non-Disclosure, 15 Tex L R

'm



‘mation might have been acquired as the resylt
:of his bringing to bear a superior knowledge
“intelligenece;skill or  technical judgment; it’;
might have been acquired by chance; or it might
have béen acquired by means of some tortioyg
action on his part. * * * Any time information
 is acquired by an illegal act it would seem that
~ there should be a duty to disclose that infor-
mation, irrespective of the nature of the remedy.

See also id. at 85; accord, 1 F. Harper & F. James,
supra, § 7.14 at 590.*

Thus, the common law rule of caveat emptor af-
fords no immunity to petitioner. The policy served
" by the rule—encouragement of diligence by sellers
and buyers—has no application to conversion of in-
formation to secure an advantage over uninformed
traders. Even under a strict view of the rule of
caveat emptor, the law of fraud imposed a duty to
speak when one party to a transaction had informa-
tion inaccessible to the other, and that information
was obtained through lawless means.

2¢ The economie basis for this rule of law is discussed at
length in Kronman, Mistake, Disclosure, Information, And
The Law of Contracts, 7 J. Legal Stud. 1, 9 (1978). As Prof.
Kronman explains, the cases applying the rule of cavect
emptor arise in a context where the party charged with non-
disclosu’re has acquired information through legitimate 1:8-
search or other bona fide economic activity. The law permits
nondisclosure in such contexts to encourage socially desira.ble
economic behavior. See also ¢d. at 34. But where a trading
advantage is the result of exclusive access to important infor
mation, obtained and used in violation of an explicit 19:g31
duty, the rule of caveat emptor has no logical application
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9. The federal securities laws were intended to re-
place the doctrine of caveat emptor with that of
full disclosure and to forbid misuse of confi-
dential business information for personal ennch-
ment in the stock market

If petitioner’s claim of a right to trade without
disclosure of misappropriated information finds little
hasis in common law precedent, it finds none under
the federal securities laws. As this Court has repeat- "
edly noted, “the 1934 Act and its companion legisla-
tive enactments embrace a ‘fundamental purpose .
to substitute a phﬂosophy of full dlsclosure for the
philosophy of caveal emptor’ * * *9 Afiliated Ute
Citizens v. United States, supra, 406 U.S. at 151
(footnote omitted); accord, SEC v. Capital Gains
Research. Bureaw, Inc., 375 U.S. 180, 186 (1963).
Congress eliminated the rule of caveat emptor in
securities transactions to restore investor confidence
following the market crash of 1929.** Obtaining trad-
ing advantages over other investors through theft or

2 See, e.g.,, H.R. Rep. No. 1383, 73d Cong., 2d Sess. 5
(1934) (“If investor confidence is to come back to the benefit
of exchanges and corporations alike, the law must advance.
* % % Unless constant extension of the legal conception
fiduciary relationship—a guarantee of ‘straight shoot
supports the constant extension’ of mutual confidence * * *
eagy liquidity of the resources in which wealth is invested is a
danger * * *, Just in proportmn as it becomes more liquid
and complicated, an economlc system must becomé more mod-
erate, more honest, and more justifiably self-trusting”); "
S. Rep. No. 792, 78d Cong., 2d Sess. 8 (1934) (“The unfair

methods of speculation employed by large operators and -

those possessing inside 1nform" “":-regardmg corpc)rate af

investors™).
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conf{,eiﬁéi{?ﬁ of_._i_confidential information is wholly in-
ith*"the objectives Congress sought to

achieve: 1n 1934.* Those objectives were reaffirmeg
by Congress in 19756 when it amended the Securities
- Exchange Act-of 1934, Pub. L. No. 94-29, 89 Stat. 97,
- See H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 94-229, 94th Cong. 1st Sess.
91-92 (1975): |

The basic goals of the Exchange Act remain
salutatory and unchallenged: To provide fair
and honest mechanisms for the pricing of securi-
ties, to assure that dealing in securities is fair
and without undue preferences or advantages
‘among investors * * * and to provide, to the
maximum degree practicable, markets that are
‘open and orderly.

26 See remarks of Rep. Wolverton, 78 Cong. Rec. 7865-7866
(1934) (“It is my hope and expectation that a wise and
judicious administration of the provisions of this act will
create a new confidence in the integrity of the security mar-
kets. * * * ‘If there were a justifiable belief that security
markets actually were “free and open”, that all buyers and
sellers met on substantially equal terms * * * the responsé
would be a greater investment interest in securities and 8
consequent improvement in all phases of the gecurity bust-
ness.’”). Rep. Rayburn expressed similar views prior to the
enactment of the Securities Act of 1933, 77 Cong. Rec. 2918
(1933 ) (“The purpose of this bill is to place the owners of
securities on a parity, so far as iz possible, with the manage-
ment.of the corporations, and to place the buyer on the samé
plane so far as available information is concerned, with the
seller’”). See also remarks of Rep. Rayburn, 78 Cong. Rec.
7697 (1934) (“We should have a market place for the ex-
- change of securities, but it should be a clean and honest mar
ket place.”).
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In light of these statutory "pufﬁbses, the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the courts have repeat-
edly held that Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 prohibit
corporate employees, officers and directors from taking
personal advantage of material non-public informa-
tion entrusted to them for business purposes. Such in-
formation must be made public before trading; if it
eannot be made public, the possessor must abstain
from trading. The analytic basig for this rule was
summarized by the Commission in In re Cady, Roberts
& Co., 40 S.E.C. 907, 912 (1961) (emphas&s sup-
plied; footnote omitted) : =

We have already noted that the anti-fraud
provisions are phrased in terms of “any person”
and that a special obligation has been tradition-
ally required of corporate insiders, e.g., officers,
directors and controlling stockholders. These
three groups, however, do not exhaust the classes
of persons upon whom there is such an obliga-
tion. Analytically, the obligation rests on two
principal elements; first, the existence of a rela-
tionship giving access, directly or indirectly, to
information intended to be available only foria
corporate purpose and not for the personal bene-
fit of anyone, and second, the inherent unfair-

-~ mess mvolved where a party takes advantage of
such information knowifng that it is unavailable
to those with whom he is dealing. |

The Commission’s analysis parallels that of the com»;,,_.
mon law decisions limiting the doctrine of’ caveat%;;_;
emptor: it is a sharp practice to reap prof by
misappropriating non—pubhc mformatwn ” ne
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asis of th
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ule of Cady,

rmation with persons lacking

The "Roberts has received the sane-
tion of every court that has considered it.” See, e,
SEC v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co., 401 F.2d 833, 848

(Z‘d Cir. 1968) (en banc), cert. denied, 394 U.S. 97¢
(1969) :

[Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 are] based in
policy on the justifiable expectation of the securi-
ties marketplace that all investors trading on
impersonal exchanges have relatively equal access
to material information * * *. The essence of
the Rule is that anyone who, trading for his own
account in the securities of a corporation has
“access, directly or indirectly, to information in-
tended to be available only for a corporate pur-
pose and not for the personal benefit of anyone”

27 The courts of appeals are unanimous in holding that trad-
ing on the basis of material inside information violates the
statute and the rule. See Kohler v. Kohler Co., 319 F.2d 634,
637-638 (7th Cir. 1963) ; Myzel V. Fields, 386 F.2d 718, 733-
734 (8th Cir. 1967), cert. denied, 390 U.S. 951 (1968.);
Pennaluna & Co. v. SEC, 410 F.2d 861, 869-870 (9th Cir
1969), cert. denied, 396 U.S. 1007 (1970); Stier V. S-m'tth,
473 F.2d. 1205, 1208 (5th Cir. 1973). See also Fridrich V.
Bradford, 542 F.2d 307, 318-322 & n.30, 323-327 & n.6 (ﬁtih
Cir. 1976), emphasizing that criminal sanctions are available
to enforce the prohibition. See generally III L. Loss, Secw;lé
ties Regulation 1445-1474 (2d ed. 1961) ; Schotland, Uty
At Any Price: A Reply To Manne, Insider Trading And hlr
Stock Market, 53 Va. L. Rev. 1425 (1967). The fact tha.t OFer
statutory provisions also extend to certain aspects of mscl1 o
trading (see Section 16 (b) of the Act, 15 U.S.C. 78p (D) )t (;es
not affect the coverage of Section 10(b). See United Stal
v. Naftalin, supra, slip op. 9.
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may not take “advantage of such information
knowing it is unavailable to those with whom he
ijs dealing,” i.e., the investing public. * * * In-
siders, as dlrectors or management officers, are,
of course, by this Rule, precluded from sounfair-
ly dealing, but the Rule is also applicable to one
possessing the information who may not be strict-
ly termed an “insider” * * *, - T

This Court has also recognized that Sectxon 10 (b)
and Rule 10b-5 forbid trading on the basis of material
inside information. See Foremost-McKesson, Inc. v.
Provident Securities Co., 423 U.S. 232, 255 (1976),
noting that “Congress has passed general antifraud
statutes that proscribe fraudulent practices by in-
siders. * * * Today an mvestor,who can show harm
from the misuse of material inside information may
have recourse, in particular, to § 10(b) and Raule
10b-5 * * *

As both courts below recognized (Pet. App. A6-AS,
B2-B3), there is no difference in principle between
petitioner’s conduct and that of an officer of an issuer
corporation who trades on the basis"o_f material non-
public information.*® Petiétioner had access to confi-

8 Contrary to petitioner’s assertmn (Br. 22), none of the
foregoing cases limit the prmmples that they announce to a
special category of persons. For example, tippees, with no
special relationship with the issuing cgrporation and
side” status, are forbidden to utilize non-public mformatlon e,
See In re Investors Management Co., 44 SEC 633, 643
(1971) (“We reject the contentions advanced by respondentswj
that no violation can be found unless it is shown I :
recipient hunself occupled a special relatlenshlp with
suer or insider corporate source gw’ "g h1m aec&ss to
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1ercial information of great importance
, who could not have learned of it through
exercise of dlhgent research. He misappropriated
1for -personal enrichment, in vio-
:;:la,tmnuof his duty as an agent” The conduct of 1
corporate officer, dlrector or other agent of an issuer
cbrporatmn who mlsappropmates confidential infor-
mation and exploits uninformed investors, is func-
tionally identical. Although the source of the infor-
mation is different, the elements are the same: (1)
critical information is available to only one party to
the transaction and (2) that information is converted
rather than acquired through research or other bona
fide economic activity.*® Nor is the impact on the

public information * * *’). See also Shapire v. Merril
Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 495 F.2d 228, 237-238
(2d Cir. 1974) ; Kuehnert v. Texstar Corp., 412 F.2d 700, 702
(5th Cir. 1969). See generally A. Jacobs, The Impact Of Rule
10b-5, supra, §66.02[a], at 3-273 to 3-278. As we discuss
immediately below, these principles have been applied by the
courts and the SEC in analogous cases involving market in-
formation frauds--'

dmg advantages through ‘misappro-

'btalmng sp

priation of confidential information is the very antithesis of

obtaining a trading advantage through astute analysis of
publicly available information, which the securities laws €1
courage...See SEC V. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co., supra, 401 F. 2d
at 848-849. See also In re Investors M a,nagement Co., suptt,
18, distinguishing between 1nf01mat1011

obtained by “general observation or analysis” and «“industrial
esplonage ”

| ’]-oreamzmo 24 N.Y.2d 494, 497-501, 24?
N.E.2d 910, 912-914 (1969) ; Brophy v. Cities Serv. €043
Del. Ch. 241, 246;:70.4.2d 5, 8 (1949).

i g e
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stock market different. As the court of appeals re-
marked (Pet. App. A15), “[i]t is difficult to 1mag1ne
conduct less useful, or more destructive of" public
confidence in the integrity of our securities markets,
than Chiarella’s.” ® In short, the courts below cor-
rectly concluded that the mandate to “disclose or
abstain” applied to petitioner. His trading on the
basis of misappropriated information is a classic ex—
ample of the kind of “deceptive practlce[]” that can
“fullfill no useful function.” Ernst & Ernst v. Hoch-
felder, supra, 425 U.S. at 206.*

3. The fact that petitioner misappropriated non-
public markelt information, rather than inside -

corporate information, does not imimunize his
conduct

a. Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 apply to peti-
tioner’s scheme even though the precise fac-
tual pattern involved here has not been pre-
sented in prior litigated cases

Petitioner argues (Br. 20, 22) that the principles
described above have no application to him because
he was not an “insider” or a “tippee” of an insider,

81 If, as petitioner suggests, the securities laws are not
available t6 restrain or punish conduct suéh as his own, then
other members of tender offer team might be encouraged_:
to exploit material non-public information for personal gain.
These persons include lawyers, accountants, bankers,  cor-
porate employees and secretaries. Highly profitable trading
on the basis of such undisclosed information would scarcely
be an isolated occurrence.

# Petitioner was, of course, forbidden to disclose the con-:__._‘_ _.
fidential information here in question. It was therefore ns o
cumbent upon hlm to await. disclosure by the acqum ’
banies before commencing to trade for his own:account.
SEC V. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co supm, 401 F V 848,
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S described in Cady, Roberts and Texas Gulf Sul-
- whur. But such a limiting interpretation cannot he
 squared with the literal text of Section 10(b), which
..__'.5-:;<g'a;pp1ies to “any” fraudulent scheme, or with the legis-
_;.g._;i:’___latiy_e_ history’of the statute, which shows that it wag
- intended to be a “catchall” extending to all “new
cunning devices.” See pages 25-28, supra. As this
Court __noted in Superintendent of Insurance v. Bank-
ers Life & Casualty Co., supra, 404 U.S. at 11 n7
(quoting A. T. Brod & Co. v. Perlow, 375 F.2d 393,
397 (2d Cir. 1967) (emphasis in original) ):

“We believe that §10(b) and Rule 10b-5 pro-
hibit ‘all fraudulent schemes in connection with
the purchase or sale of securities, whether the
artifices employed involve a garden type varlety
of fraud, or present a unique form of deception.
Novel or atypical methods should not provide im-
munity from the securities laws.”

Similarly, in United States v. Naftalin, supra, ship
op. 3, this Court rejected the argument that the gen-
eral antifraud provision in Section 17(a) of the
Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. 77q(a), should be
limited to frauds of the kind involved in prior lit-
gated cases—i.e., frauds aimed at investors. The
Court noted that “[n]othing on the face of thf3
statute supports this reading of it” (slip op- 3).

83 Naftalin unsuccessfully argued in this Court th?xt Serfl::
tion 17(a) should be limited to “investor” frauds in COOf
formity with prior litigated cases: “in the entire hl'Stor%'ch
Section 17(a) of the 1933 Act there existed 'no case 1n‘r§ }or
[thé statute] has been used to prosecute a defendan o
fraud in the sale of securities perpetrated upon an ag

broker * * *'” (Br. 32).
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In rejecting Naftalms argument, the Court cxted

[nited States v. Brown, 555 F.2d 336 (2d CII' 1977 )
(see slip op. 6), which held:

The fact that there is no htzgated fact pattern
precisely in point may constitute a tribute to
the cupidity and ingenuity of the malefactors
but hardly provides an escape from the penal
sanctions of the securztles fraud provisions here
involved.

Id. at 339-340. Nothing in Section 10(b) or Rule
10b-5 suggests that its prohibitions are confined to
“insiders,” “tippees” of insiders or “inside informa-
tion.” Frauds involving market information® like
any other frauds practiced in connection with a pur-
chase or sale of securities, fall within the coverage
of these broad antifraud provisions.*®

Nor do economic considerations support petitioner’s
arguments about the scope of Section 10(b) and Rule
10b-5. The profits to be made from market informa-
tion fraud, and the unfairness to investors, are at
least as great as in inside information cases. Market
information concerning forthcoming tender offers of
acquisitions has tremendous 1mportance to 1nvestors,

% In this brief, the term market mfonnatxon” refers to
information about the demand in the market for a. partlcularf -
security, as opposed to the value of the assets or. ea}a;
power of the corporatmn that issues the secumty S :
App. A8 n.8.

applied the “dlsclose or abstam” prmtnple m marketl’;bn
tion cases that are analogous to the presen :



n a..period of increased tender offer
| act1v1ty ‘The price of a security at any given time
- depend; @n two things: the earning power and assets

of the 1ssu1ng corporation and the market demand for
, the securlty The market may capitalize corporate
earnings and assets at different levels, depending upon
investor demand. Demand for securities reaches its
- apex during-a tender offer, when the offeror agrees
to pay a “premium” above the current market price.
That premium can.be quite substantial. A recent sur-
vey of tender. offers occurring in 1975 and 1976
showed that the premium over the previous closing
price’ “for target company shares ranged from 229,
to 66%. See Troubh, supra, 54 Harv. Bus. Rev. at
82.% Foreknowledge of a tender offer is certain
knowledge that the shares owned by the seller are
worth substantially more than he believes. Obtaining
such knowledge by theft or other dishonest means in
order to exploit a seller who is in ignorance of an
impending tender offer is an act of deception and
dishonesty properly forbidden by Section 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5.

38 See also Statistical Spotlight, Forbes, Feb. 9, 1979 at 69
(analysis of 40 largest takeovers in 1978 showed premiums
of 40% or more to be common, with premiums of over 100%
in some cases). As noted in Borden & Weiner, An Investment
Decision Analysis of Cash Tender Offer Disclosure, 23 N.Y.
L.Sc¢h. L. Rev. 553, 575-576 (1978), from the point of view
of the offeree, “price is * * * the name of the game.” Where
there is a reasonable premium, “investors almost always sell.”
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b. The statutory context shows that..Section

'10(b) applies to all frauds, mclud'mg market -

information frauds S

The structure of the Securities Exchange Act of ..

1934 supports the view that Section 10(b) should'
extend to all fraudulent schemes, including those in-
volving market information. Section 10(b) stands
hetween Sections 9 and 11 of the Act; the three pro-
visions may be viewed in pari materia. See VI Loss,
supra, at 3528. See also SEC v. National Securities,
Inc., 393 U.S. 453, 466 (1969) (“the interdependence -
of the various sections of the securities laws is cer-
tainly a relevant factor in any interpretation of the
language Congress has chosen * * *”).

Section 11(b) of the Act, 15 U.S.C. 78k (b), places
strict limitations on securities exchange specialists
who possess non-public market information. Those
limitations prevent tipping of market information
and discretionary trading for customers on the basis
of such mformatmn - -

It shall be unlawfu_lh__for a specialist or an official

of the exchange to disclose information in regard

to orders placed with such specialist which is not
... available to all members of the exchange, to any
' person other than an official of the exchange a
representative of the Commission, or a specialist
who may be acting for such specialist * * *. It

shall also be unlawful for a specialist permitted °
to act as a broker and dealer to effect on the

exchange as broker any transaction- except 'u
a market or limited price order. S




 The speci

“.“as]-:is_t’s. market-making;; role necessitates his
ases and sales of securities to promote con-
d orderly price movements. But Congress

. ,_prohi}xi}hted mist f the market information en-
* trusted to him: “The specialist is forbidden to reveal
~ the orders on his books to favored persons. This

information must be available to all members or else
kept entirely confidential. The specialist is likewise
prohibited from exercising purely discretionary or-
ders as distinet from market or limited price orders.”

_S. Rep. No. 792, 73d Cong., 2d Sess. 18 (1934); H.R.
Rep. No. 1383, 73d Cong., 2d Sess. 22 (1934). See

also S. Rep. No. 1455, 73d Cong., 2d Sess. 25-30
(1934). During debates on Section 11(b), Congress
focused on the unfairness inherent in permitting cer-
tain traders to utilize non-public market information
for personal gain:

[I]s there not a danger that a few men on the
inside, the officers of the exchange, may secure
from the specialist in advance any and all in-
formation they desire, precisely as they have
heretofore? ..

~ Will they not still be able to obtain informa-
tion that will apprise them in advance of all the
other members of the exchange knowledge of the
accumulated overnight orders to buy or sell vari-
ous stocks, the amount and the prices at which
the sellers will sell, and the prices at which buy-
ers are willing to buy? * * * Armed with this
confidential information, they would be able eas-
ily to decide what course to pursue as between
buying or selling. Or, in other words, * * * they
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would have the opportunity of looking into all
the other players’ hands, and then of making
their bets at this gambling table in safety not
only to the disadvantage of outside investors
but even to the [dis]advantage of their fellow
members of the gambling fraternity as well. It
is practically the same as if they were playing
with marked cards.

78 Cong. Rec. 8031-8032 (1934) (remarks of Rep.
Sabath). These concerns led to the adoption of the
restrictions on specialist activities contained in Sec-
tion 11(b).

Like Section 11(b), Section 9(a) (1) of the Act
15 U.S.C. 78i(a) (1), seeks to prevent market in-
formation frauds. That provision prohibits, inter
alie, manipulative securities transactions that have

* * * the purpose of creating a false or mis-
leading appearance of active trading in any se-
curity registered on a national securities ex-
change, or a false or misleading appearance with
respect to the market for any such security * * *,

Market manipulation, in the view of Congress, effec-
tively defrauds public investors by mlsleadmg them
about current market facts. See S. Rep. No. 1455,
73d Cong., 2d Sess. 32 (1934) (“In all cases fictitious
activity is intentionally created, and the purchaser
is deceived by an appearance of genuine demand for
the security”); HR Rep. No. 1383 73d Cong, 2d
Sess. 10 (1934).

Viewing Sectlon 10(b) in this statutory co;
thus fortifies the conclusion thatiit applies:




f-:s--g____;:‘.fraudulent )
m:fomation Congress recogmzed the danger to in-

__ '"‘“tempted to mlnlmlze ‘that danger in Sections 9 and
11 of the Act. ‘Section 10(b), the catchall provision
Vmserted between Sections 9 and 11 to deal with any
new cunning devzces should be construed in accord-
ance with that recognition. In the view of Congress,
misuse of market information is a deceptive device
oY contrivance'—win the WOI'ds of Representative Sa-

e. . This Court and the lower federal courts have
applied Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 to mar-
ket information frawds

This Court’s decision in Affiliated Ute Citizens v.
United States, 406 U.S. 128, 144-154 (1972), con-
firms that Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 can apply to
trading by person_s; not insiders or tippees of insiders,
possessing material non-public market information.
The defendants in Ute purchased shares in their in-
dividual eapacities directly from the plaintiffs and
arranged for the sale of shares to third parties, ef-
fectively serving as market makers in the securities
in question. They failed to disclose to the sellers at
the time of purchase that the current market value
of the stock on the resale market was far higher than
the sellers believed. The Court held that this failure
to disclose market information constituted a violation
of the statute and the rule, noting that “[t]he sellers
had the right to know that the defendants were in 8
position to gain financially from their sales and that
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. their shares were selling for a higher prlce ir
- parket.” 406 U.S. at 153.”

Petitioner’s situation is the same as that of the
Jefendants in Ute. He purchased securities while in
possession of unquestionably material market infor-
mation that was unknown, and could not have been
known, to the sellers. Although the defendants in Ute
had a special relationship with the sellers by virtue of
their market-making role, petitioner’s position im-
posed on him similar if not more exacting responsi-
bilities. His professional duties” placed him near the
center of major market-shaping events. It was his
! job to maintain the confidentiality of critically im-
portant information that would create substantial
preferences and unfairness in the marketplace if
leaked or selectively revealed. It was also his job
. to help prepare documents that he knew were to be
.| publicly disclosed to all investors on an equal basis.
As the court of appeals observed, a “financial print-
[er] * * * [is] a central, though generally unheralded,
cog in the vital machinery for disseminating infor-

D

gl % The Court rejected the defendants’ contention that they
could not be guilty of fraud because they merely stood “mute”:
- “We do not read Rule 10b-5 so restrictively. To be sure, the
second subparagraph of the rule specifies the making of an
untrue statement of a material fact and the omission to state
a material fact. The first and third subparagraphs are not so
restricted. These defendants’ activities * * * disclose, within
the very language of one or the other of these subparagraphs,
a2 ‘course of business’ or a ‘device, scheme or artifice’ that
operated as a fraud upon the Indian sellers.” . 406 U.S. at
152-153. Accord, SEC v. Capital Ga,ms Research Burea%t.
Ine., supra, 375 U.S. at 197- 198 - o




R

| :ma'ti‘o‘n‘to inves_t_qr“s” (Pet. App. AT). Petitioner per-
verted that function by misappropriating the infor-
mation entrusted to him and exploiting uninformed
~ investors. Since, as Ute emphasizes, the securities
 laws were intended to preserve “a high standard of
business ethics” in all aspects of the securities in-
dustry (406 U.S. at 151), petitioner may not con-
tend that his role in the securities market was any
less “special” or required less “trust” than that of
the defendants in Ute.*®

The lower courts have also held that fraudulent
practices involving market information violate Sec-
tion 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. The facts in SEC v.
Shapiro, 494 F.2d 1301, 1303-1307 (2d Cir. 1974), for
example, bear a striking resemblance to those present-
ed here. The defendants in Shapiro were consultants
who assisted an acquiring company in its efforts to
merge with a target company. Aware of the im-
pending merger, the consultants purchased shares in
the target company for themselves, selling them at a
large profit after public announcement of the merger

.38 Petitioner also argues (Br. 33) that Ute is inapplicable
here becausé it recognized that “transfer agents” would not
ordinarily be required to make disclosure to investors. But
transfer agents normally do not purchase securities; they
merely record transfers of securities on the books of issuer
corporations. Unlike a transfer agent, petitioner purchased
large quantities of securities for himself at a substantial
personal profit (see Pet. App. A4 n.3). And, in contrast to &l
ordinary transfer agent, petitioner was entrusted with highly
confidential information, which he misused in violation of the
rules of his employer and in breach of his duty to his employ-
er’s customers.
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plan. The court of appééls concluded that this misuse
of material non-public information for personal en-
richment violated the statute and the rule.®® In sum,
the application of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 to
market information frauds has substantial judicial
precedent; it is the materiality of the nonpublic in-
formation, not its source, that is relevant under the
statute and the rule.

d. The Securities and Exchange Commission
has applied Section 10(b) and Rile 10b-5 to
various kinds of market mformq,tzon frauds

For over 30 years, the Securities and Exchange
Commission has brought enforcement proceedings in
cases involving market information frauds. See, e.g.,
In re Herbert L. Homoham, 13 S.E.C. 754 (1943)
(misappropriation of information about sealed bids
to learn market facts inaccessible to other persons);
In re Blyth & Co., [1967-1969 Transfer Binder]
Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) {77,647 (1969) (use
of material non-public information about interest
rates affectlng market condltlons “wrongfully ob-_ |

% See also Zweig v. Hearst Comomtzon, [Current] Fed.

Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) ¥ 96,851, at 95,460-95,462 (9th Cir. 1979) -~
(market information fraud by financial columnist) ; Court-
land v. Walston & Co., 340 F. Supp. 1076, 1082-1084 (SD -
N.Y. 1972) (market information fraud by broker). See gen-
erally Jacobs, The Impact of Rule 10b-5, supra, §66.02[b], at" =~
3-289 to 8-292. These decisions support the proposition: an-:='-§'_
nounced by the Second Circuit over 30 years ago: “The essen:
tial objective of securities legislation is to protect those w
do not know markef, conditions:from the Qver-re hings:
those who do.”  Charles Hughe .V SE
437 (24 Cir. 1943), cert. denie
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tained from ‘a Treasury:. Department employee),
See also SEC v. Hancock, SEC Litigation Release No,
- 505 (Mar. 18, 1949), condemning a scheme to mis.
ap’propria-te information for personal trading advan-
tages. In Hancock, an employee of an investment com-
pany relayed information about planned securities
purchases by the company to a broker, who purchased
the shares cheaply and subsequently resold them to
the company at a profit. This scheme to defraud,
“involving market information, was the basis for a
subsequent criminal indictment. See United States v.
Haneock, SEC Litigation Release No. 530 (Aug. §,
1949). |

The Commission has also brought a number of en-
forcement proceedings under Section 10(b) and Rule
10b-5 when confidential market information concern-
ing forthcoming corporate acquisitions is misappro-
priated and used in the public securities markets.
See, e.g., the consent decrees in SEC v. Sorg Printing
Co., [1974-1975 Transfer Binder] Fed. Sec. L. Rep.
(CCH) 194,767 (S.D.N.Y. 1974); SEC v. Prome’
‘Typographers, Imc., [1976-1977 Transfer Binder]
Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) 95,734 (S.D.N.Y. 1976);
SEC v. Ayoub, [1975-1976 Transfer Binder] Fed
Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) 1 95,567 (S.D.N.Y. 1976); SEC
v. Manderano, [1978 Transfer Binder] Fed. Sec L.
Rep. (CCH) 96,357 (D.N.J. 1978). Enforcezqent
actions have also been commenced against execullVe?
of acquiring companies who purchased shares of
ta'rget company stock prior to public revelation of
tender offer. See, e.g., SEC v. Rosenbery, [1974—1975

(S.D.N.Y
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Transfer Binder] Fed. See. L. Rep. (CCH) | 94,766
(S.D.N.Y. 1974) ; SEC v. Healy, SEC Litigation Re-
lease No. 6589 (S.D.N.Y. 1974); SEC v. Stone, SEO
Litigation Release No. 8527 (S.D.N.Y. 1978). See

also FTC v. Mandel Brothers, Inc., 359 U.S. 385 391
(1959) (administrative interpretation entitled to de-
ference ‘‘even though it was applied in cases settled
by consent”).

Thus, application of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
to market information frauds finds substantial sup-
port in the enforcement actions of the administrative
agency vested with primary responsibility for inter-
preting the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

e. Petilioner’'s proposed limitation of the statute
and the rule would lead to absurd results

The limiting interpretation of Section 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5 that petitioner urges would result in il-
logical legal standards. The essence of petitioner’s
claim is that persons such as himself who have no
relationship with the issuing corporation and who
obtain non-public information solely from the acquir-
ing corporation may freely use that information in.
the stock market. This is so, petitioner argues, be-
cause they do not obtain their 1nformat10n from
traditional inside sources and have no express fiduci-
ary relationship with the issuing corporation or other -
traders in the market (Br. 19, 20, 22). |
If petitioner’s contention were adopted, it Wouldf,
mean that an officer or dlrecter of a tender offeror
could purchage large quant1tles of target company.;
stock for his own account after emerg'mg from’:"
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eeting at which plans to make a tender offer had
een approved. However, if, instead of a tender offer,
" the acquisition was a negotiated corporate merger,
the same acquiring company officer or director
| lea,f;i:édi""bf the acquisition from attending a confi-
dential meeting also attended by the target company’s
officers, his information would be “inside.” His
source would be the “issuer corporation” and, under
petitioner’s analysis, the employee would be forbidden
to purchase shares in the target company.®® Despite
the fact that confidential corporate information is
misappropriated in both cases for the purpose of
exploiting uninformed investors, petitioner’s proposed
rule of law would impose liability in one instance
but not the other.

The same anomaly would arise in the case of print-
ers. Under petitioner’s proposed rule, printers who
convert non-public information from tender offerors
may freely purchase securities in the target company
at the expense of uninformed investors. But if a
printer obtains his information by reviewing confi-
dential merger documents submitted by the target
company rather than the acquiring company, then,
under petitioner’s theory, he is forbidden to trade.

These examples expose the arbitrariness of peti-
tioner’s proposed legal standard. Indeed, the only

* As petitioners’ argument recognizes, when confidential
market information concerning a forthcoming acquisitionr
stems from the issuer corporation, Section 10(b) and Rule
10b-5 clearly prohibit tipping and use of that information for
personal trading. See, e.g., SEC v. Geon Industries, Inc., 531
F.2d 39 (24 Cir. 1976). .
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discernible logic of petitioner’s standard is that it ex-
cludes Aim from liability. Under the established prin-
ciples of fraud that we have discussed above, each of
the traders in the preceding examples has violated
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. Each has misappro-
priated confidential corporate information in viola-
tion of his duty as an agent and each has used that
information to exploit uninformed investors in the
purchase or sale of securities. As the court of appeals
recognized (Pet. App. Al13-A15), conversion of confi-
dential information for the purpose of obtaining an
advantage over other investors undermines public

confidence in the national securities markets and con-
flicts with the congressional purpose to eliminate all
frauds in securities transactions. This is true regard-
less of the formal relationship between the buyer and
seller or the source of the non-public information that
is used for personal enrichment at the expense of
other traders.
4. Petitioner’s conversion of market information for
the purpose of exploiting uninformed investors

bears no resemblance to the actions of business
firms engaged in bona fide economic activity

Petitioner contends (Br. 25-29) that his conduct is
“identical” to that of tender offerors who, prior to
publicly announcing their acquisition plans, may pur-
chase up to 59 of the stock of target companies on
the open market." He also argues that if he is subject

“ Under the Williams Act amendments to the Securitles_
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. 78m(d), 78n(d), an acquiring firm,
including a tender offeror, must disclose various facts about
itself and itg acqu1s1t10n plans after. it acqulres 5% of any
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a fide activities of businesses gue
‘block positioners,” and “arbitrag-
““would be subject to Rule 10b-5 lis.

(Pet. App. A10-A15) that there is no substance tg
these comparisons and no reason to extrapolate rules
of liability appropriate in this case to other situations
presenting different questions of fact and publi
policy.

The facts in this case do not show simple possession
of non-public market information generated by bona
fide economic activity. As the court of appeals noted,
the undisputed evidence at trial proved that petitioner
“converted” information from the customers of Pan-
dick Press for personal enrichment in the stock mar-

ket (Pet. App. Al3); the district court described

his conduct as a form of “embezzlement” (id. at B2),
The common law of fraud, as we have discussed on
pages 39-42 supra, drew a clear distinction between
use of information obtained by misappropriation and
bona fide economic activity. See Keeton, supra, 19
Tex. L. Rev. at 25-26, 35; Bower & Turner, suprd,
at 107; Kronman, supra, at 9, 13-18, 33-34. By the
same token the antifraud provisions of the federal
securities laws are aimed at “ ‘manipulative and d&

ceptive practices which . . . fulfill no useful funt

tion’ ” (Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, supra, 425 U.S

class of stock of the issuer. As originally enacted, these i;?s

visions required disclosure when 10% of the target compa 0
stock had been acquired; the figure was lowered to b%
1970.

. The court below correctly concludeg
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;ses:?: at 206), not at bona fide business ac’cnnty“2 In these

Thifgp. | circumstances, there is no basis for the assertion that
Ib-5. ha § petitioner’s conduct should be immunized under legal
*ncluded :, principles that have been applied to legitimate forms
ance f | of commercial activity or that affirmance of the de-
e ruleg ; cision below would cast doubt on the prOpmety of
Hatlons those activities.

pub it % Petitioner’s contention that his conversion of conﬁ-

dential information for personal trading is “identical”

:essz -with the actions of tender offerors totally ignores the

7 bong | nature of the commercial operations in which tender
nO.téd,' % offerors engage and the regulatory framework that

iy ! surrounds them. Tender offerors participate in bona
Pan fide economic activity within a pervasive scheme of

regulation that accommodates their legitimate inter-
ests with those of the investing public.

To protect the interests of both investors and
tender offerors, the Williams Act does not require the
filing of disclosure documents until a tender offer is.
“first published, or sent or given to security holders.”
15 US.C. 78n(d) (1). Prior to the commencement
of the tender offer, disclosure is not requxred unless
the acquiring company obtains 5% of any: elass of the

*? Congress intended the securities laws to protect the ri"n'-
vesting public with the least interference to honest business.
See, e.9., remarks of Rep. Wolverton, 78 Cong.- Rec; 7863
(1934) (“The uppermost thought that has domlnate ..our.
individual and collective decisions has been a desire to correct .
existing evils, or conditions that have proved harmful thh-“'-
out destroymg, curtailing, or -handicapping legitimate bus:-
ness.”). Accord, remarks of Rep. Chapman, id. at 7925 _re-'-

marks of Rep. Rayburn, id. at 8013 : : '
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r:ttie:s." See 15 U.8.C. 78m(d)
, premature disclosure, which could frus.

not compelled. This reflects a careful congressional

_balancing. As Senator Williams stated prior to en-

actment of the Willilams Act: “I have taken extreme
care with this legislation to balance the scales equally
to protect the legitimate interests of the corporation,
management, and shareholders without unduly imped-
ing cash takeover bids.” 113 Cong. Rec. 854 (1967).
See also S. Rep. No. 550, 90th Cong., 1st Sess. 3
(1967) ;- Rondeau v. Mosinee Paper Corp., 422 U.S.
49, b8-59 (1975).%

This congressional balancing of interests has no
application to petitioner’s case, as the courts below
correctly held.** Congress has expressed no policy

3 Senator Williams also pointed out: ‘“Substantial open
market or privately negotiated purchases of shares may pre-
cede or accompany a tender offer or may otherwise relate to
shifts in control of which investors should be aware. While
some people might say that this information should be filed
before the securities are acquired, disclosure after the trans-
action avoids upsetting the free and open auction market
where buyer and seller normally do not disclose the extent qf
their interest * * *’’ 113 Cong. Rec. 856 (1967). As this
indicates, there is normally no requirement that a persor
advise the market of the amount of stock he is planning to
buy or sell. But where investment decisions are based oF
information concerning forthcoming tender offers that 18
converted or embezzled, entirely different considerations aré
presented.

* The SEC has recently proposed a rule (SEC Rule 14he‘
2(c)) under the Williams Act that would bar trading .bﬁf‘t °
tender offeror in the target company’s securities once it “has
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judgment in favor of his dishonest scheme. Petitioner
engaged in no bona fide economic activity that Justlw"'
fies trading prior to public disclosure. Unlike a
tender offeror, which ordinarily undertakes an ac-
quisition program based on mdependent analys1s and
economic planning and which assumes the risks of the
investment process, petitioner converted information
not publicly available and used that information to
bet on a sure thing. Unlike tender offerors, who must
disclose their plans and actions at the time prescribed
by Congress under the Williams Act, petitioner did
not make any disclosure to anyone. And unlike ‘the
activities of tender offerors which can promote inves-
tor welfare (see Rondeau v. Mosinee Paper Corp.,
supra, 422 U.S. at 58 n.8), petitioner’s actions served

determined to make a tender offer,” unless public disclosure
of its intentions is made. The proposed rule would afford
additional protection fo public investors. This proposal is
based on the premise that the tender offeror should be per-
mitted to “test the market” only so long as it is still undecided

_about whether to make an offer. Proposed Rule 14e-2(a)

would also specify that persons other than the tender offeror
(including persons such as “warehousers”) may not trade on -
the basis of confidential information concerning the: ‘offer.
See 44 Fed. Reg. 9956, 9976-9978 (1979). "Proposal of these
specific rules does not imply that the conduct they cover was
previously immune from regulation under other, more: general,
statutory provisions or rules or that fraud occurring-in. the

course of that conduct would not violate Section 10(b) and .
Rule 10b-5 if practiced in connection with a: se@},i_rltm pur-
chase or sale. See generally SEC v. National Securi ne.,
supra, 393 U.S, at 468; United States V. Naftalm, supra, slip -
0p. 9; see algo E‘lect? onic Specialty Co.. V. International Co
trols Corp., 409 F.2d 937, 940- 941 (2d Glrwl969)
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on njure other investors and the tender offerors
whose confidence he betrayed.
 General Time Corp. v. Talley Industries, Inc., 403
F.2d 159, 164-165 (2d Cir. 1968), relied on by peti-
tioner, offers no support to his position. General
Tme held that an acquiring company need not dis-
close its acquisition plans prior to making certain
open market purchases. The court observed that, at
least in the initial stages of the acquisition, requiring
the purchaser to make a public announcement of his
plans could easily result in anticipatory price in-
creases and thus “abort” the acquisition. Nothing in
General Time suggests that persons who trade on the
basis of information converted from acquiring com-
panies have a privilege to enrich themselves. The
court’s concern for the effectiveness of the tender
offer and the need to preserve pre-announcement
secrecy confirm that its reasoning would not condone
a scheme of the kind involved here, which had the
clear potential to frustrate bona fide tender offers
(see Pet. App. A13; see also pages 34-35, supra).”
The case of the specialist is similar to that of the
tender Qﬁ'e_xtéi'. ‘Asg noted on pages 53-55, supra, Con-
gress recogmzedthat specialists who make a market
in securities while in possession of information about
prevailing public demand for those securities con”

5 See A. Jacobs, supra, §66.02[b], at 3-284 (footnofe
omitted), noting that the rule in General T¥me has no appli-
cation to persons in petitioner’s position: ¢[T]his [I‘U1"3:]
cannot justify purchases by persons who know the tenderor 5
plans’” Trading by persons having this informational it

equity is contrary to the Rule's policies.”

T b= [ -
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iribute to the stability of prices on. the national
securities exchanges. The Act expressly authorizes
the registration of specialists to serve as market
makers. See Section 11(b) of the Aect, 15 U.S.C.
78k(b). As discussed above (see page 54, supra),
Section 11(b) balances the legitimate interests of the
specialist and the investing public. Specialists are
prohibited from selectively tipping other traders or
placing discretionary orders for preferred customers
on the basis of non-public market information con-
tained in their books. Due to. their essential role in
the market, however, they are not altogether forbid-
den to trade while in possession of market infor-
mation.*

The fact that businesses may ordinarily engage in
specialist activities, open market purchases, arbitrage
or block trading (within statutory and regulatory
restrictions) without disclosing information gen-
erated by fheir own activities does not immunize
petitioner’s conduect. Unlike these businesses and

46 Other participants in the securities: markets, suci_l_ as
block traders, arbitrageurs, bank trust departments, mutual
funds, and insurance companies, also may possess informa
about impending changes in market conditions due to their
ability to buy and sell large quantities of stock. Congress
recognized that large transactions by such institutions may
have some impact on market price, but it acknowledged. that
such transactions are a necessary part of the operation’ of ‘the
national securities markets. See H.R. Rep. No. 1383, 73d
Cong., 2d Sess. 20 (1934); S. Rep. No. 792, 73d Cong, 2d
Sess. 17 (1934). See also Section 11. (a) (1)( “
Act, 15 U.S.C. 78k (a) (1) (A)=~
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ordinary investors participating in the nation’s securi-
“ties market, petitioner converted confidential market
information of another person intended for a special
commercial purpose.” As explained in the brief
amicus curiae of the Securities Industry Association
(page 30),*® there is no reason why imposition of

7 Petitioner’s conversion of confidential information to se-
cure an advantage over uninformed traders in the public
securities markets is totally unlike the bona fide research
‘activities of investors, brokers and stock market analysts who
achieve superior insights through investigation of publicly
available information. See note 29, supra.

48 We agree with the contention of the brief amicus curiae
that certain language in the opinion of the court of appeals,
taken out of context, incorrectly suggests that mere posses-
sion or regular receipt of confidential market information
precludes market professionals (such as market makers, spe-
cialists, arbitrageurs, and block traders) from carrying on
their normal business activities. Each of these businesses
purchases and sells securities as a necessary part of its
operations and possesses from time to time confidential infor-
mation about market conditions that is generated by its own
bona fide commercial activity. We do not understand the
opinion of the court of appeals, viewed in its entirety, to
question the propriety of these business operations. Signifi-
cantly, the court was careful to point out: “We are not to be
understood as holding that no one may trade on nonpublic
market information without incurring a duty to disclose”
(Pet. App. A10). In this connection, the court referred to ‘Fhe
case of tender offerors, which may possess market information
generated by their own legitimate activities. Thus, while w¢
agree with the court of appeals that Section 10(b) and Rule
10b-5 apply to theft or misappropriation of confidential infol_‘-
mation for personal use in the stock market by both tradf—
tional corporate insiders and market insiders such as petl
tioner, we also agree with amicus that Section 10 (b) and Rule
10b-5 would not ordinarily prohibit market professionals from
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liability on agents who fraudently misappropriate con-
fidential information for personal enrichment should
establish a precedent apphcable in areas of legltlmate

business activity.*

e e

carrying on their securities business while in possession of
confidential information stemming from their own legitimate
business operations. That is not to say, however, that the
activities of such professionals may never violate the statute
and the rule. If, for example, a block trader, arbitrageur, or
portfolio manager received a tip from a printer and realized
that he was obtaining converted information about an im-
pending tender offer, subsequent trading on the basis of that
information would violate Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

We do not agree with the assertion of amicus that the
SEC is required to proceed by rule-making in developing
standards to govern the use of market information by securi-
ties industry professionals. To be sure, defailed rules may
prove to be workable in some areas. But as Professor Loss
has pointed out, an appropriate standard of conduct applicable
in different contexts does not readily “lend itself to defini-
tion.” ALI, Federal Securities Code § 1603, at 5638-539 (Pro-
posed Official Draft 1978). Professor Loss notes that new
and “egregious” forms of fraud involving market information
are properly dealt with under general antifraud provisions,
adding that ‘“this area must be left to further judicial devel-
opment.” Ibid. Particularized rules for different commercial
contexts are, of course, desirable when feasible, but the deci-
sion whether to proceed by rule-making or adjudication re-
mains a question committed to administrative discretion.
SEC v. Chenery Corp., 332 U.S. 194, 201-203 (1947) ; NLRB
V. Bell Aerospace Co., 416 U.S. 267,.290-295 (1974). ‘In any
event, that question is not presented in this case.

¥ The brief amicus curiae correctly notes (Br. 30) that
“liability under Rule 10b-5 may be predicated upon “the: de-
liberate, and purely personal, utilization of market informa-
tion, where the information was received solel' by "
confidential business relationshi p r
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In summary, this case involves only the narrow
question whether Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 pro-
hibit the unlawful conversion. and use of market
~information not available to the general public in an
“effort to exploit uninformed investors. Petitioner’s
trading on undisclosed information ecannot be analo-
gized to bona fide commercial activity. As the court
of appeals concluded, the law properly distinguishes
between petitioner's conduct and that of the tender
offerors, specialists, and block traders to whom he
would compare himself.

II. SECTION 10(b) AND RULE 10b-5 AND THEIR REL-
EVANT INTERPRETATIONS PROVIDED FAIR
NOTICE THAT PETITIONER'S CONDUCT WAS
UNLAWFUL

Petitioner contends (Br. 38-48), that he was denied
“fair notice” that his conduct violated Section 10(b)
and Rule 10b-5. He argues that the legal basis for
his prosecution was so obscure that, even had he con-
sulted an attorney, he would not have learned that
his actions entailed a substantial risk of criminal
liability (Br. 88, 41, 48).

showing ‘that an expectation of fair dealing . . . is justiﬁed..’ "
See also Fleischer, Mundheim & Murphy, An Indtial Inqui¥
Into The Responsibility To Disclose Market Informat*.i.(m,- 121
U. Pa. L. Rev. 798, 822 (1973): “[I]t may be realistic to
expect that a market professional who is given a preferrt?d
position in order to fulfill a particular market function will
use any confidential information received as a consequence
of his position solely to further his assigned role.” ACCO{'{‘;’
Comment, The Application of Rule 10b-5 to “Market 172'337'
ers”: United States v. Chiarella, 92 Harv. L. Rev. 1538, 154
(1979).
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1. Petitioner’s argument ignores the fact that the
statute and rule prohibit all fraudulent schemes.
They provide the clearest possible warning that any
deceptive device or contrivance, scheme of artifice to
defraud, or course of business that operates or would
operate as a fraud on any person is unlawful.®® The

- geope of these provisions is unequivocal: every seheme' |

to defraud is forbidden if practiced in connection with
a purchase or sale of securities and through use of
the prescribed jurisdictional means. =
Prior to petitioner’s actions, this Court had con-
firmed that Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 prohibit
fraudulent misappropriations practiced in connection
with securities transactions (Superiniendent of In-
surance v. Bankers Life & Casualty Co., supra) ; the
lower courts had uniformly held that trading on the
basis of inside corporate information was illegal
(SEC v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co., supra); and this
Court had held that failure to disclose market infor-
mation could constitute a fraud under the statute
(Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States, supra).

- Before petitioner acted, the Second Cireuit also held

that persons aware of . corporate acquisition . plans

% See Speed v. Transamerica Ca*r:p 99 F. Supp. 808, 832
(D. Del. 1951) :

In enacting the section, Congress sought to eliminate,_

within the sphere of federal jurisdiction, all deceptive -

devices or contrivances. * * * As stated-by J udge Car
[in People v. Mancuso, 255 N.Y. 463] “one is at.a, Ioss
imagine how” this broad: ObJeCtW&““COUId be more
curately stated, without a catalos e of parti
susceptlble of enumeratmn in. advance of th
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‘purchase shares in the target company

lic disclosure (SEC v. Shapiro, supra).
| urities and Exchange Commission
ad ‘commenced judicial and administrative proceed-
ngsbased on market information frauds and had
filed complaints against printers under Section 10(b)
mahd Rule 1’(:)'13-5 when they traded on the basis of
| non-public tender offer news. See pages 59-61, supra.
Thus, the agency charged with the interpretation and
enfoijg_gment of the Act had expressed its view that
petitioner’s conduct could give rise _'to a violation
“(SEC v. Sorg Printing Co., supra) .

The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 expressly
authorizes criminal prosecutions for willful violations

of its provisions and the rules promulgated there-

under. See 15 U.S.C. 78ff.* Before petitioner under-
took his scheme to defraud, numerous criminal prose-
cutions had been commenced by the Department of

51 Of course, petitioner was also on warning that the statute
and rule would receive a broad and flexible interpretation.
See Superintendent of Insurance v. Bankers Life & Casualty
Co., supra, 404 U.S, at 12; 1 Bromberg, supra, at § 2.2(332).

%2 This case involves a prosecution under a statute defining

2 specific federal offense. Although, as the dissenting judge
-court below (Pet. App. A33), this Court’s recent

decisions have restricted the availability of “implied reme-
dies,” the Court has not hesitated to give full scope to criminal
enforcement proceedings expressly authorized by Congress.
United States v. Naftalin, supra. Limitation of implied pri-
vate remedies, which serve as supplements to government
enforcement broceedings, gives added importance to the
efforts of the Department of J ustice and the Securities and
Exchange Commission to obtain compliance with the statute.
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Justice under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 Where .
willful violations were found to exist, including, as -
noted on page 60, supra, a case involving a ‘market
information fraud.”

If petitioner or an attorney consulted by him had
made even a minimal effort to ascertain the require-
ments of the law, they would have learned that peti-
tioner’s intended conduct entailed a substantial risk
of criminal liability. “No honest and reasonable citi-
sen could have difficulty in understanding” the il-
legality of that course of conduct. See United States
v. Persky, 520 F.2d 283, 286-288 (2d Cir. 1975), re-
jecting a similar “fair notice” claim under Section
10(b) and Rule 10b-5. The argument that no
“omens” or “portents” of liability were present (Br.
41) ignores the broad prohibitory language of the
statute and rule and the line of authority that we
have summarized above. Simply stated, a person of
ordinary intelligence had fair notice that the decep-

5 See, e.g., United States v. Re, 336 F.2d 306 (2d Cir.),
cert. denied, 379 U.S. 904 (1964) (market manipulation) ;
United States v. D’Honau, 459 F.2d 73 (9th Cir. 1972) (mar-
ket manipulation) ; United States v. Koss, 506 F.2d 1103 (2d
Cir. 1974) (failure to deposit proceeds of offering) ; United
States v. Persky, 520 F.2d 283 (2d Cir. 1975) (false press
releases) ; United States V. Wolfson, 289 F. Supp. 903 (S:D. -
N.Y. 1968) (fraudulent distribution of securities). Many
other criminal indictments under Section 10(b) and Rule
10b-5 have resulted in convictions without published opin-
lons. Some of those indictments are described in III Loss,
Securities Regulation, supm at 1449 n‘l' 'VI Loss, Secy
Regulation, supra, at 3559. LR
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tive course of conduct alleged in the indictment wag
forbidden.* |
w2, This case, however, presents no abstract ques-
. tion about the adequacy of potential notice, derived
from statute books or judicial opinions, Petitioner
received explicit personal notice. As the court of ap-
- peals pointed out, “[f]ew malefactors receive such
explicit warning of the consequences of their conduct”
(Pet. App. A17). Warning posters appeared through-
out petitioner’s place of employment, stating in large,
bold-face print: “You are forbidden to use any infor-
mation‘learned from customer’s copy * * *. [Y]ou are
liable to criminal penalties of 5 years in jail and
$10,000 fine for each offense.” See pages 5-6, supra.
Those warnings were communicated to all employees
at Pandick Press through other forms of personal
notification, as discussed above. Ibid.”

The district court charged the jury that it could
not convict petitioner unless it believed that he acted
willfully, deliberately, and intentionally, with aware

54 As an example of the purported unforeseeability of the
court of appeals’ decision, petitiorﬁ‘boints out that a “judge’s
clerk” would be prohibited by that decision from buying
stock on the basis of material non-public information obtained
from his or her position (Br. 43 n.19). For example, a clerk
aware of a forthcoming antitrust ruling could profitably pur
chage securities or sell them short. That this conduct is pro-
hibited by the statute, we submit, is not a surprising consé
quence. Cf. United States v. Peltz, 433 F.2d 48, 52 n4 (2
Cir. 1970).

% Petitioner édmitted on the witness stand that he kn‘fw
that his conduct was wrongful and in violation of SEC r¢
quirements. See pages 10-11, supra.
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ness that his conduct was wrongfu
supra. 'The court also instructe
central issue in the case was petitioner’s -“state of

mind.” It directed the jury to consider (Tr. 692)
Had Mr. Chiarella not seen the notices posted
next to his time clock and elsewhere for many
months, as he testified? Or was he not telling
the truth about these notices, as the government
urges, in order not to reveal to you his aware-
ness of possible criminal penalties atta.ched to

his conduct. R

The jury’s guilty verdict estabhshes that petitioner
knew that his conduct was wrongful. The jury did
not choose to believe that he had never read the signs
warning of criminal liability. In the words of the
district court at petitioner’s sentencing hearing, peti-
tioner's claim of ignorance of criminal penalties was
“perjury beyond a reasonable doubt” (Pet. App. A17
n.18). In light of the jury's finding of willful and
knowing misconduct, there is no question in this case
of convieting a defendant for engaging in practices
that he believed to be proper.” |

¢ Petitioner complains that not all of the: Iegal analyms
contained in the court of appeals’ decision was included:-in
the charge to the jury (Br. 46-47). But the jury was sunply .
required to find the facts in the case: whether petitioner be-
haved as charged in the indictment, and Whether his conduct
was willful and knowing. Whether the conduct charged in
the indictment and proven by the government at. trlal .consti-
tutes a violation of the statute and rule 4
questmn for the court.
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'“"prosecutlons under criminal statutes con-
- _roh1b1tory language when the de-
;fendant’s conduct is fairly encompassed by the stat-
ute and mens rea is proven by the government. This
is true even when the precise coverage of the statute
is subject to debate. For example, in Nash v. United
States, 229 U.S. 373, 377 (1913), the Court sus-
tained a criminal indietment charging a restraint of
trade illegal under the Sherman Act’s “rule of rea-
son.” *® Similarly, in United States v. National Dairy
Products Corp., 372 U.S. 29, 31-36 (1963), the Court
held that the defendants received fair notice in a
prosecution for sale of goods at ‘“‘unreasonably low
prices.” The court dismissed the argument that prose-
cution under this general statutory standard was
unfair, noting that the defendants could not be con-
victed unless the government proved mens rea. See
also United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 438

their offers (Br. 48 n.21). The short answer to that assertion
is that petitioner argued this point to the jury, which refused
to credit it. The jury determined (by its verdict) that peti-
tioner realized that Ais conduct was wrongful, regardless of
the propnety of the behavmr of other persons.

58 See also Omaechevarria V. Idaho, 246 U.S. 343, 348
(1918) Hygrade Provision Co. v. Sherman, 266 U.S. 497, 501-
503 (1925) ; Gorin v. United States, 312 U.S. 19, 27-28 (1941);
United Statesv Ragen, 814 U.S. 513, 523-524 (1942) ; United
States v. Petrillo, 332 U.S. 1, 5-8 (1947) ; Boyce Motor Lines,
Inc. v. United States, 342 U.S. 337, 340-342 (1952), all re-
jecting fair notice arguments under statutes containing pro-
hibitions expressed in general terms, where the offense Ié
quired proof of mens rea,
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U.S. 422, 438-441 (1978), holding that the govern-
ment may obtain a criminal convietion in a “rule of
reason’” antitrust case if it proves that the defendants
acted with knowledge that their actions were likely
to produce anticompetitive effects.”

Under these authorities, petitioner’s “fair notice”
claim is untenable. The government proved beyond
o reasonable doubt that petitioner engaged in con-
duct that falls within the prohibition of Section
10(b). The government also proved that petitioner
acted willfully and knowingly, with the realization
that his behavior was wrongful.- In these circum-
stances, even though petitioner’s conduct may mnot
have precisely duplicated that involved in prior cases,
and even though the prohibitory language of Section
10(b) and Rule 10b-5 is general in scope, his convie-
tion was properly sustained. See United States v.
Naftalin, supra, slip op. 10. Petitioner was ‘“‘given
clear notice that a reasonably ascertainable standard
of conduct is mandated; it [was] for him to insure
that his actions [did] not fall outside the legal limits.”
United States v. Powell, 423 U.S. 87,:92 (1975).

® Bouie v. City of Columbia, 378 U.S. 347 (1964), relied on
by petitioner (Br. 44-45), has no pertinence here. In that
civil rights demonstration case, involving First Amendment
issues, the judicial decision under review contradicted the
literal text of the criminal statute that was the basis for: the :
Prosecution. The Court held that the defendants.could n
have foreseen such a perverse construction. As we”
hoted, the prohibitory statute here in question embrac
fraudulent schemes, including the scheme practlced b

tioner, There is no repugnance b
and the statute,
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‘_.{5'-:'4; -Théﬁf‘*gjéj?eririment obtained an indictment in this

‘ ~&j_case to vindicate the deterrent purposes of the Act

" As the evidence in this case disclosed, petitioner made
 over $30,000 in illegal profits. He did so through

methods - that approximate theft—‘conversion,” iy
the words of the court of appeals, or “embezzlement”
in the words of the district court. He did so in the face
of explicit warnings that his conduet would result in
criminal liability. An injunction or disgorgement
order is generally not a sufficient sanction to deter

and punish deliberate misconduct of this kind. Such
sanctions merely return the wrongdoer to the posi-

tion he would have occupied if he had not engaged
in the scheme to defraud. Under all the ecircum-
stances, petitioner’s 80-day prison sentence, accom-
panied by probation, certainly was not unwarranted
in light of the severity of his offense. Any lesser
sanction would invite others to repeat the highly
profitable fraud in which he engaged.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CHARGED
THE JURY ON THE STATE OF MIND ELEMENT
OF PETITIONER’S OFFENSE

Petitioner contends that the district court erred by
refusing to instruct the jury that the government
must prove a specific intent to defraud or deceive
(Br. 49-53). He does not dispute that the district
court’s charge complied with Section 32(a) of the
Act, 15 U.S.C. 78ff(a), which provides that any pel”
son who “willfully violates any provision of this
chapter, or any rule or regulation thereunder * * *

}
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is guilty of 2 criminal offense. Rather, he argues

that the court was required to charge the jury “both

that intent to defraud was required ‘before a * * *

violation could be found and that if found, such vio-
lation was a crime if determined to be a willful vio-
lation * * *” (Br. 52-63; emphasis in original). He
asserts that this two part charge on mens rea is man-
dated by the Court’s decision in Ernst & Ernst v.
Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185 (1976).

As noted on pages 11-13 above, the district court
instructed the jury that it could mnot conviet peti-
tioner unless it found that he engaged in the scheme
to defraud alleged in the indictment and did so “wil-
fully and knowingly” (Tr. 682, 687, 688, 690). The
court explained that the government must prove that
petitioner acted “intentionally” and “deliberately,”
rather than through “negligence or inadvertence”
(Tr. 688). The court emphasized to the jury that
knowing and willful misconduct requires proof that
petitioner acted with “a realization * * * that he was
doing a wrongful act” and that “the knowingly
wrongful act involved a significant risk of eﬁ'ectmg
the violation tha,t occurred” (ibid.). The court de-
clined to supplement these ‘instructions on mens rea
with petitioner’s requested charge on specific intent
to defraud (J.A. 831a): ® |

Intent to defraud means the spemﬁc intent to

deceive, cheat or trick someone. And an 1ntent‘}

W4T A yefers to the Jomt Appendzx ﬁled in the"' cpgr@
of appeals. Sl
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to deceive, before being considered the specific
intent which satisfies the statute, must he
coupled with what may be best described as an
evil ambition to injure someone and deprive
‘him of something of value.

As we demonstrate below, the district court properly
refused to give this additional charge. Neither Sec-
tion 32(a) nor Section 10(b) of the Act requires the
government to prove that the defendant entertained
“an evil ambition to injure someone.”

1. This Court’s decision in Ernst & Ernst v.
Hochfelder, supra, held that in a private damage ac-
tion under Section 10 (b) and Rule 10b-5 the plaintiff
must plead and prove scienter and that proof of “neg-
ligence” would not suffice. The Court described sci-
enter as a mental state “embracing intent to deceive,
manipulate, or defraud.” 425 U.S. at 194 n.12. Al
though scienter “embraces” intent to defraud, it also
embraces knowing and willful misconduct;* more-
over, as the Court pointed out, it may also embrace
“reckless” conduct. Ibid.

An analysis of Hochfelder demonstrates that the
Court held not that Section 10(b) requires specific
intent to defraud, but rather that culpability greater
than mere negligence must be shown. The plaintiffs
in Hochfelder brought suit against the defendant
auditors on the theory that they aided and abetted
the fraud of the president of a brokerage houset

% The Latin term “scienter” means “knowingly” or Wig:
“guilty knowledge.” Black’s Law Dictionary 1512 (Rev. 4
ed. 1968) ; Bouvier's Law Dictionary 3013 (3d rev. 1914)-
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through ‘“negligent nonfeasance” (425 ‘US. at 190).
The question before the Court was “whether scienter
is a necessary element of such a cause of action, or
whether negligent conduct alone is sufficient” (id. at
197). In concluding that negligence alone would not
suffice, the Court noted that the language of Section
10(b) was aimed at “knowing or intentional mis-
conduct” (2bid.), a “type of conduct quite different
from negligence” (id. at 199). The Court also pointed
out that the language of the statute was inconsistent
with imposition of liability ‘“for wholly faultless con-
duet” (id. at 198) and that the legislative history
demonstrates that Congress intended to prohibit con-
duct involving “some element of scienter” rather
than “negligent conduct alone” (id. at 201). Con-
gress intended Section 10(b) to apply in cases where
the defendant “has not acted in good faith” (id. at
206). Due to the limited scope of its holding, the
Court left open the question whether “reckless” con-
duct would suffice to maintain an actzon under Section
10(b) (d. at 194 n.12) %

Thus, the Hochfelde?' case lends no support to pet1-

 tioner’s claim that “speelﬁc mtent to defraud” is re-

quired by the statute. To the contrary, the Court’s
repeated references to states of mind other than spe-
cific intent (including knowing alf;d bad faith con-

2 The Court also left open the question whether sc1enter"'=f-_
must be proven in an SEC civil enforcement proceeding. - See
425 U.S. 194 n.12.
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duct) support the traditional view that proof of
guilty knowledge is sufficient.”

Significantly, the pre-Hochfelder decisions that the
Court relied on (425 U.S. at 194 n.12) recognize that
liability extends to “knowing, wilful and reckless
conduct.” See, e.g., Clegg v. Conk, 507 TF.2d 1351,
1861-1362 (10th Cir. 1974), cert. denied. 422 U.S.
1007 (1975); Lanza v. Drexel & Co., 479 F.2d 1277,
1306 (2d Cir. 1973) (en banc); SEC v. Texas Gulf
Sulphur Co., supra, 401 F.2d at 868 (Friendly, J.,
concurring). Similarly, the common law definition
of scienter extended to conduct that was knowing,
willful or reckless.” Finally, the appellate court de-

3 Indeed, even if petitioner might have been entitled to an
additional instruction on intent, to clarify the issue for the
jury, he was not entitled to the instruction he requested.
“Specific intent” to defraud has never included a particular
design to cause injury. “The fact that the defendant was
disinterested, that he had the best of motives, and that he
thought he was doing the [victim] a kindness, will not absolve
him from liability, so long as he did in fact intend to mislead.”
Prosser, supra, § 107, at 700. The district court was not
obliged to give the jury an instruction that misstated the
law. See 2 C. Wright, Federal Practice and Procedure
(Criminal) § 482 at 278-279 (1969 ed.) (collecting cases):
see also United States v. Lam Lek Chong, 544 F.2d 58, 68
(2d Cir. 1976).

5 See Bucklo, The Supreme Court Attempts to Defint
Scienter under Rule 10b-5: Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 29
Stan. L. Rev. 213, 229 (1977) (footnotes omitted) (“Ever
the English case generally credited with establishing the
strict intent requirement at common law, Derry V. Peck [14
A.C. 337 (1889)] purported to allow liability when the rep-
?es?ntation is ‘made (1) knowingly, or (2) without belief
in 1fs truth, or (3) recklessly, careless whether it be true o
false’” Accord, W. Prosser, Law of Torts, § 107, at 699-70
(4th ed. 1971). 1 Harper & James, supra, §7.3, at 533-535.
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cisions since Hochfelder have umform]y h
specific intent to defraud is not required.® *:

In sum, nothing in Hochjfelder or the author1t1es
that preceded or followed it supports. petitioner’s ar-

U

o See Coleco Industries, Inc. V. Berman, 567 F.2d 569, 574
(3d Cir. 1977), cert. denied, No. 77-1725 (Oct. 2, 1978)
(“plaintiff may recover under Rule 10b-5 for misrepresenta-
tions that are recklessly made as well as those made with
conscious fraudulent intent”) ; First Virginia Bankshares v.
Benson, 559 F.2d 1307, 1314 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. denied,
435 U.S. 952 (1978) (‘“[tlhe defendant must kunow of the
falgity of the information, or must act in reckless disregard
of its falsity, or must intend to deceive”y's Sundstrand Corp.
v. Sun Chemical Corp., 563 F.2d 1033, 1045 (7th Cir.), cert.
denied, 434 U.S. 875 (1977) (“recklessness should be viewed as
the functional equivalent of intent”) ; Sanders v. John Nuveen
& Co., b4 F.2d 790, 792 (Tth Cir. 1977) (“ ‘reckless behavior’
can be sufficient to constitute scienter”); Wright v. Heizer
Coryp., 560 F.2d 236, 251 (7th Cir. 1977) (cites with approval
the recklessness standard in Sundstrand Corp. v. Sun Chemi-
cal Corp., supra, and Sanders V. John Nuveen & Co., supra) ;
Rolf v. Blyth, Fastman Dillon & Co., 570 F.2d 38, 46 (2d
Cir.), cert. denied, No. 78-560 (Dec. 4, 1978) (“Hochfelder
left intact our rule that recklessness is a form of scienter in
appropriate circumstances”); Nelson v. Serwold, 576 F.2d
1332, (9th Cir.), cert. denied, No. 78-182 (Nov. 13, 1978)"
(“Congress intended the ambit of §10(b) to reach a broad
category of behavior, including knowing or reckless con-
duct”) ; BEdward J. Mawod & Co. v. SEC, 591 F.2d 588, 596
(10th Cir. 1979) (“Hochfelder does mnot require that there
be premeditated malice. It recognized that the carrying on of
manipulative or deceptlve device or contrivance was itself
evidence that knowledge existed.”); Mansbach V. Prescott,
Boll & Turben, [Current] Fed. See. L. Rep. (CCH)._Y 986, 86;14F
at 95,526 (6th Cir. 1979) (“recklessness constitutes sufﬁcmnt
scienter”) McLean v. Alexander, [Current] Fed "Rep.
(CCH) 196,879, at 95,601, 95,605 (3d Cir, 1979) (“reckl
conduct is actionable under Sectmrs 10 (b)”}; i
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that the governmenf_" mﬁst prove a specific

nt to defraud some victim. ' See United Stgtes
v..Charnay, 537 F.2d 341, 851, 357-359 (9th Cir),
certdemed,429 U.5. 1000 (1976), rejecting the as.
- sertion tha{ {Léc__hféldér changes the traditional “wili.

fulness” standard required by Section 82(a) of the
- 'Secgrities Exchange Act.” As the courts below recog-
nized, a charge to the jury that the government must
prove that the defendant acted willfully and know-
ingly, with a realization that his conduct is wrongful
--and likely to produce the violation that results, fully
comports with the requirements of Hochfelder and
the criminal penalty section of the Act.

2. In addition to its lack of support in statutory
or case authority, petitioner’s proposed instruction
that the government must prove “an evil ambition to
injure someone” has no logical application in a case
of this kind. Persons trading on the basis of ma-
terial non-public information could not be proceeded
against by the government in either criminal or civil
enforcement actions if Section 10(b) required such
proof. By hypothesis, traders in petitioner’s position
deal through their brokers on a securities exchange.
Théy do not know who sells them securities or who
buys securities from them. In these circumstanees,
persons trading on non-public information Wotﬂd. al-
most never entertain “an evil ambition to Injure

66 The “willfulness” standard prescribed by Congl‘ess( 213
described in United States v. Peltz, 433 F.2d 48, 54-5U5 ¢
Cir. 1970), cert. denied, 401 U.S. 955 (1971),' and 6;”
States v. Dizon, 536 F.2d 1388, 1895-1397 (2d Cir. 1976).
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someone.” Their sole objective would be to make a_;_;gz-;-;:.
quick profit, and not to get caught. If the rule

against trading on material non-public information
is to be enforced at all, it must embrace sfcuatlons_ |

:n which the defendant acts deliberately and inten- -

tionally in making a secret profit, with knowledge
that the information that he uses is non-public and
with the realization that he is acting wrongfully.

In the present case, petitioner stipulated that he
did not disclose the material information that he
used. He admitted that he learned’ ‘the information
by decoding confidential documents. He told his
broker that he wanted to make a quick profit, and
the evidence showed that his quick profit was sub-
stantial. He admitted on the witness stand that he
knew that his conduct was wrongful. See pages 9-10,
supra. In sum, the government proved culpable ac-
tion and a culpable state of mind. Nothing more
could realistically be shown in a case of this kind. -

These considerations were recently addressed by

the Court in United States v. United Stdtes Gypsum
Co., supra. In that case, the Court held that erimi-

nal prosecutions under the antitrust laws required

proof of mens rea, but it rejected the defendants’

assertion that a specific intent to inflict injury or to

violate the law was also required. The Court noted
that when the government proves that the defendants

were conscmusly behavmg in a way ‘the law pro-




88

“~'f“~-_f“"knowledg60 ; Iy::"[anticompetitive] effects, but also
_of a conscious desire to bring them to fruition or to

ate the law. would seem, particularly in such 3

;gcantext both unnecessarily cumulative and unduly
 burdensome.” Id. at 446. The Court’s analysis of

| ,;spemﬁc mtent in United States Gypsum Co. is equally
applicable here and underscores the correctness of
the decision of the court below.

~ IV. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RECEIVED
IN EVIDENCE AN ADMISSION MADE BY PETI-
TIONER TO THE NEW YORK DEPARTMENT (F
LABOR
Petitioner finally contends (Br. 53-69) that the
distriet court committed reversible error by admitting
into evidence a report prepared by an employee of
the New York Department of Labor, which sum-
marized petitioner’s remarks during an interview
concerning unemployment compensation. That sum-
mary (Gov. Ex. 12) stated the following:

I was discharged for violating Company rule
re disclosure of client information. The allega-
tion is true. It was a matter of a printing of
stock tender-offers & I utilized the information
for myself. This happened last year & through

 investigation by S.E.C., the matter came to light
& I was dlscharged

Petltloner argues (Br. 54) that “[bloth federal and
state interests strongly favor preserving the cor
fidentiality of the statement.” As we demonstratt
below, neither state nor federal interests support &
clusion of this relevant piece of evidence in 2 federal
criminal prosecution.
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1, The principal basis for petitioner’s argument in
tavor of exclusion is his assertion (Br. 54) that the
Jaw of New York “mandates, in no uncertain terms,
confidentiality of information provided in connection
with a claim for unemployment insurance.” How-
ever, the New York statute (N.Y. Lab. Law § 537)
(McKinney 1977) prescribes no such absolute privi-
lege. The statute provides in pertinent part (em-

phasis supplied) :

Information acquired from employers or employ-
ees pursuant to this article shall be for the ex-
clusive use and information of the commissioner
in the discharge of his duties hereunder and
shall not be open to the public nor be used in any
court in any action or proceeding pending there-
in unless the commaissioner s a party to such
action or proceeding * * *. Such information
insofar as it is material to the making and de-
termination of a claim for benefits shall be avail-
able to the parties affected and, in the commis-
stoner’s discretion, may be made available to the
parties affected in connection with effecting
placement.

Thus, the statute itself recognizes that countervailing
public need can justify disclosure. If the Commis-
sioner of Labor is a party plaintiff or defendant in
a court proceeding, or intervenes therein, the statute
authorizes disclosure. And, in the Commissioner’s dis-
cretion, confidential information may be revealed to

third parties m the course of placing unemplﬁyed
workers,
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gnificantly, the New York Department of Lahor
"mi:erprets the statute to permit disclosure of con.

~ fidential files to the Federal Bureau of Investigation,

e witness from the Department of Labor tes-
ot ’ the FBI is given access to “all the records in
“the office” (Tr. 278-279). Moreover, the report in
“wquestion was released for use at trial with approval

- of New York’s Commissioner of Labor (J.A. 67a-

68a). In light of the practice of the New York au-
thorities to disclose their reports to the agency of the
federal government responsible for the investigation
of federal crimes, and in view of the fact that the

- Commissioner of Labor himself authorized release of

- petitioner’s report, the argument that use of the re-
port at trial “frustrates” the policies of the State
of New York is wholly untenable.

2. Fed. R. Evid. 402 succinctly states the federal
policy in this area. Unless explicitly barred by the
Constitution, federal statute, or federal rule, “[a]ll
relevant evidence is admissible.” Fed. R. Evid. 501 de-
fines the exceptional circumstances in which relevant
evidence may be excluded on grounds of privilege:

Except as otherwise required by the Constifu-
tion of the United States or provided by Act of
Congress or in the rules prescribed by the S
preme Court * * * the privilege of a witness
* * * shall be governed by the principles of the
common law as they may be interpreted by the
courts of the United States in light of reasol
and experience.

As the court of appeals recognized (Pet. App. A23),
New York’s statutory privilege was unknown at

195
rat)

at
infy
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¢onl
that federal constitutional and statutory “policies”

support his claim of privilege, he points to no pro-
vision of the Constitution or any federal statute or
rule that prohibits use of the report.* | o
Recause no federal statute, constitutional prowsmn
or common law principle requires exclusion -of this
~ yelevant evidence, the courts below correctly declined
to erect a new federal privilege. As this Court noted
in United States v. Nixzon, 418 U.S. 683, 709 (1974):
“The need to develop all relevant facts in the ad-
versary system is both fundamental and compre-
hensive. The ends of criminal justice would be de-
feated if judgments were to be founded on a partial
or speculative presentation of the facts. The very
integrity of the judicial system and public confidence
in the system depend on full disclosure of all the
facts, within the framework of the rules of evidence.”
The Court added that “[w]hen the ground for as-
serting privilege * * * in a criminal trial is based
only on generalized interest in confidentiality, it can-
not prevail over the fundamental demands of due
process of law in the fair administration of crimi-
nal justice.” Id. at 718. See also Herbert v. Lando,
No. 77-1105 (Apr. 18, 1979), slip op. 20-21 (“[e]vi-
dentiary privileges in litigation are not favored”);

mon law.” Moreover, although petitioner argﬁes B

% See Coyne v. O’Connor, 121 N.Y.S. 2d 100 101 (Sup. Ctev
1953), describing the privilege as a “statutory privilege,” =
rather than “the COmm0n-1aW Varlety of absolute pr1v11ege ”{- IR

; * We address petitioner’s pehcy arguments on pag
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ited States v. Nobles, 422 U.S. 225 230.951
- _975‘); Bramzburg v. Hayes, 408 U.S. 665, 690 &
n.29 (1972); United States v. Bryan, 339 U.S. 323
331-332 (1950); 8 J. Wigmore, Evidence §§ 2192

2198 (McNaughton  rev. 1961).” The state civi]

cases relied on by petitioner (Br. 56) do not an.
nounce a rule of law that controls the receipt of evi-
dence,in this federal criminal prosecution. See Woljle
v. United States, 291 U.S. 7, 12-13 (1934); Funk
v. United States, 290 U.S. 871, 881-387 (1933).

3. a. Petitioner’s contention (Br. 64-65) that the
New York privilege has been transmuted into a fed-
eral privilege by the Federal Unemployment Tax Act,
26 U.S.C. 3304(a) (16), (17), is insubstantial. As
the court below correctly pointed out, petitioner did
not raise this claim in the district court as a ground
for exclusion of his statement (Pet. App. A22 n.22).
For this reason, petitioner waived the claim. See
Fed. R. Evid. 103(a) (1). In any event, petitioners
reliance on the statute is misplaced. The Federal
Unemployment Tax Act merely specifies conditions

69 Clonsistent with these authorities, the lower federal courts
have shown great reluctance to adopt state privileges in fed
eral criminal proceedings, where those privileges Jack clea}'
support in federal common law. See, e.g., In re Special April
1977 Grand Jury, 581 F.2d 589, 592-593 (7th Cir. 1978),
cert. denied, No. 78-408 (Dec. 11, 1978); In re Grand JW
Impaneled January 21, 1975, 541 F.2d 378, 378-383 (3d C”d'
1976) ; United States v. Cortese, 540 F.2d 640, 642-643 (§4
Cir. 1976) ; United States v. Craig, 528 F.2d 773, 781—72d
(7th Cir.) (Tone, J., concurring), adopted en banc, 537 I
957, cert. denied, 425 U.S. 973 (1976). This Cour
a related question this Term in United States V.
78-1455.
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for federal approval of state ‘unemployment  com-
pensation statutes and prowd'es that thestatesmust
offer safeguards to prevent misuse of information ob-
tained by state agencies. It nowhere _indicates that
nformation obtained by state agencies administer-
ing unemployment compensation statutes must- be
suppressed in federal criminal trials.™ | __

b, Petitioner also argues (Br. 59, 65-66) that
proposed Fed. R. Evid. 502 (56 F.R.D. 183, 234-235
(1973) ) would have recognized a privilege in favor
of persons making reports ‘“required by law to be
made” if the relevant state statute so provided. Pro-
posed Rule 502 is irrelevant here for three reasons.
First, New York’s statute does not withhold informa-
tion from the federal government in criminal cases,
as previously noted. Second, the report in question
was not “required by law to be made.” Rather, it was
the produect of petitioner’s voluntary application for
benefits. Finally, and most fundamentally, the pro-
posed rule of evidence relied on by petitioner was
never adopted by Congress. During hearings on the
proposed rule, witnesses expressed disapproval of the -
recognition of state privileges in federal criminal -
proceedings (see Rules of Ewidence (Supplement)

™ As the court of appeals observed (Pet. App. A22 n.22),
state unemployment compensation statutes providing for dis-
closure of information to prosecuting authorities have been
approved under the Federal Unemployment Tax Act, - See
Mass. Ann. Laws ch. 1514, § 46 (Michie/Law. Co-op. 1976) ;.
Wash. Rev. Code §50.13.060, 50.13.070 (Supp. 1978). See
also 43 Fed. Reg. 51478 (1978), ‘noting the Secretary of
Labor’s approval of these statutes e e




‘the Pro sedFedeml Rules of Evidence
-Subcomm_;_: on. Criminal Justice of the
-H@«use Comm. on the Judiciary, 93d Cong., 1st Sess.
47, 49-50- (1973) (views of Senator McClellan)).
Congress abandoned the proposed rule in favor of the
current version of Rule 501, which provides that
prlwleges in federal criminal cases are defined by
the federal common law. See S. Rep. No. 93-1277,
93d Cong., 2d Sess. 6 (1974); H R. Rep. No. 93-650,

93- 1597 93d Cong, 2d Sess. 7 8 (1974) See also
In re Grand Jury Impaneled Januwary 21, 1975, supra,
541 F.2d at 378-383.

c. Petitioner further argues (Br. 66-67) that the
policies of the Fifth Amendment bar use of his ad-
mission. That contention was not raised in the court
below and should not be reviewed here. See United
States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 788 n.7 (1977). In
any event, petitioner’s argument is insubstantial.

Petitioner did not refuse to provide information to
the New York Department of Labor on Fifth Amend-
ment grounds or otherwise assert a Fifth Amend-

.ment privilege. Under these circumstances, he may
not contend that use of his statement infringed the
Fifth Amendment. See Garner v. United States, 424
U.S. 648, 655 (1976) (“[o]nly the witness knows
whether the apparently innocent disclosure sought
may ineriminate him, and the burden approprlately
lies W1th him to make a timely assertion of the privi-
lege. If instead, he discloses the information sought,
any mcmmlnatmns properly are viewed as not cont
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pelled.”). See also United Sta.tejs V. Korde_l,. 3-97‘ US
1, 7-138 (1970) (persons providing :._ans.wer:s to 1ntex;~:
rogatories may not later assert “self-m.crlmmatlon -
when those answers are used in a criminal prosecu-
tion) ; California v. Byers, 402 U.S. 4?4, 427-4.31
(1971) (statute requiring disclosure of mformatu.m
for general regulatory purposes does not result in
“se]f incrimination”). P
Moreover, petitioner was not “compelled” to make
any statement. Nor was he ever promised th-at his
statement would be kept confidential-—much less of-
fered “immunity” from use of his statements in a
criminal prosecution. Compare New Jersey v. Por-
tash, No. 77-1489 (Mar. 20, 1979), slip op. 9. Un-
like taxpayers who are required to file tax returns
(Garner v. United Stales, supra) or motorists who
are required to furnish information about traffic ac-
cidents (California v. Byers, supra), petitioner was
not subject to any legal obligation to make a state-
ment. He therefore may not assert:that he was'
forced to ineriminate himself. Garner v. United
States, supra, 424 U.S. at 654-656. o
4. Finally, petitioner argues that his admission
had “the dramatic impact of a written confession”

™ Although petitioner took the witness stand and testified -
at trial, he did not assert that he received any promige:of
confidentiality or immunity. The employee from the New '
Department of Labor who communicated with petitiones
transeribed his statement testified that if petitioner had'
duired about the use to which his statement cotld be e
would have been informed that it coilld be tutned over:
FRI (Tr. 278-279), T
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(B '68). He makes that assertion despite his recog.
: ﬁlﬁwn that: the statement “did not significantly adq
to the government’s evidence” (ibid.). We note that
petitioner’s “confession” consisted simply of a state.
‘ment that he was fired for violating company rules
and an admission that the charge of violating those
rules was “true.” The government clearly established
these undisputed facts by independent proof (see
pages 5-11, supra). Thus, although relevant and
admissible, petitioner’s statement was merely cumu-
lative evidence. |

Significantly, petitioner’s admission said nothing
whatsoever about the central issue in the case—the
existence of mens rea. As petitioner notes (Br. 49),
his “sole defense on the merits was that he denied
having an intent to defraud.” His prior admission
was entirely consistent with his position at trial that,
although he knew of his company’s rules, he did not
act with a state of mind sufficiently culpable to give
rise to criminal liability. Since the admission had no
bearing on petitioner’s “sole defense,” it is difficult
to credit his assertion that it prejudiced him or that
it forced him to take the witness stand (Br. 69).”

72 If, indeed, petitioner had been forced to take the witness
stand to rebut the admission, one would expect that he would
‘have presented contradictory evidence. To the contrary, how-
ever, he repeatedly admitted both on direct and cross &
amination that he used confidential client information for
trading in the stock market, realizing that this constituted

a violation of his company’s rules and could lead to dischargt
(Tr. 475-521).
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In sum, receiving pétit‘ioner’s admission "i‘e"suli:ed.=

only in duplication of undisputed evidence. The ad=

on did not have any bearing on what petltwner:
zilzlsiiglnates as his “sole defense” on the merits. Under

mitted error in receiving the admissio..n, th:%t ervor.
could not have affected the outcome of the trial. See

(1946). |
CONCLUSION

The judgment of the court of appeals should be
affirmed. . |

Respectfully submitted.
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APPENDIX
(Gov. Ex.18) . -

70 ALL EMPLOYEES:

The information contained in all type set and_

printing done by Pandick Press, Inc., is the private
and personal property of the customer.

You are forbidden to use any information learned
from customer’s copy, proofs or printed jobs for your
own or anyone else’s benefit, friend or family or talk-
ing about it except to give or receive instructions.

Any violation of this rule will result in your being

fired immediately and without warning.
In addition, you are liable to eriminal penalties of
b years in jail and $10,000 fine for each offense.
If you see or hear of anybody violating this, report
it immediately to your supervisor or to Mr. Green
or Mr. Fertig. Failure to report violations will re-

+ sult in your being fired.

. The undersigned employee hereby certifies that he/
" she has read the above and acknowledges that he/she
tully understands same.

Employee
Signature:

----------------------------

Supervisor
Signature: .
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